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Amended Items in Nomination:

Photographs: v
The SHPO has verified that the 1989 photographs accurately document the current condition and
integrity of the nominated resources. Historic Photos #1-26 are provided as photocopy duplications.

Resource Count:
The resource count is revised to read:

Contributing Noncontributing
21 6 buildings
2 - sites
5 6 structures
1 - objects
29 12 total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register _ 16 .
A revised inventory list is appended to clarify the resource count and contributing status of properties in the
district, particularly at the powerplant/dam sites. (See attached)

This information was confirmed with Lauren McCroskey of the WA SHPO.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)
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The following is a list of the contributing and noncontributing resources within the district,
beginning at its westernmost--downstream--end, organized according to geographic location.(1)
(*) - Contributing Resources Previously listed in the National Register

A. TOWN OF NEWHALEM
Boundaries: See Section 10.
Total Number of Contributing Resources: 20

Total Number of Non-contributing Resources: 5

LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number Historic Name Type of Resource ~ Date

1 Silk Stocking Row House #8 Building 1921

2 Silk Stocking Row House #7 Building 1922

3 Silk Stocking Row House #6 Building 1922

4 Silk Stocking Row House #5 Building 1922

5 Silk Stocking Row House #4 Building 1922

6 Silk Stocking Row House #3 Building 1921

7 Silk Stocking Row House #2 Building 1922

8 Silk Stocking Row House #1 Building 1922

9 School Teacher’s House (House #222) Building 1938
10A Garage #1-22 Building 1939 c.
10B Garage #1-22 Building 1939 c.
11 The Hotel (Bunkhouse #23) Building 1920
12 Commissary Building 1920
13 Bunkhouse #13 (Pansy House) Building 1934 c.
14 New Cook’s Bunkhouse (Bunkhouse #10) Building 1934 c.
15 Mess Hall (Gorge Inn) Building 1920
16 Old Cook’s Bunkhouse (Library) Building 1921
17 Tourist Dormitory #70 (Bunkhouse #70)  Building 1935
18 U.S.G.S. Stream Gauging Station

and Cable Car Structure 1909/1923

19 Old Number Six Object 1928

Q/ / %:/’4——— %/2&/%
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LIST OF NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number Historic Name Type of Resource Date
20 Fire Hall Building 1956 c.
21 Tourist Restroom (Visitor’s Center) Building 1934 c.
22 Currier Hall Building 1957
23 Gazebo Structure 1982 c.
24 Trail of the Cedars Suspension Bridge Structure 1975 c.
B. GORGE POWERHOUSE AND DAM COMPLEX (2)
Boundaries: See Section 10.
Total Number of Contributing Resources: 3 (7 previously listed)
Total Number of Non-contributing Resources: 2 (1 previously listed)
LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:
Number Historic Name Type of Resource  Date
27a Gorge Powerhouse Building ) 1924
27b Power Tunnel Structure *) 1921
27¢c Surge Tank Structure *) 1921 c.
27d-g Penstocks (4) Structure (4) (*) 1919-1929
28 Gorge Railroad Bridge Structure 1935 c.
29 Gravity Oil Tank House Building 1928 c.
30 Ladder Creek Falls Gardens Site 1928
LIST OF NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:
Number Historic Name Type of Resource Date
31 Gorge Pedestrian Suspension Bridge Structure 1983 c.
32 Gorge High Dam Structure ™*) 1961
33 Gorge Diversion Dam Structure 1950
C. DIABLO POWERHOUSE AND DAM COMPLEX
Boundaries: See Section 10.
Total Number of Contributing Resources: 1 (9 previously listed)
Total Number of Non-contributing Resources: 3

Q/ / ZQW Z/Zé,/qa
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LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number Historic Name Type of Resource  Date
35a Diablo Powerhouse Building *) 1936
35b Power Tunnel Structure ™) 1931
35¢ Intake Tower Structure * 1931
35d Surge Tank Structure *) 1931
35e Penstock Structure @) 1931
35f Penstock Structure ™) 1931
35g Tailrace Structure @) 1936
36 Incline Waiting Station Building 1934
37 Incline Lift and Powerhouse Structure *) 1928
42 Diablo Dam Structure *) 1930
LIST OF NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:
Number Historic Name Type of Resource  Date
38 Diablo Commissary Building 1952
39 Diablo Communications Building Building 1935 c.
41 Incline Manlift Structure 1953
D. SINGLE DISCONTIGUOUS CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES
Boundaries: See Section 10.
Total Number of Contributing Resources: 5
Total Number of Non-contributing Resources: 2
LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:
Number Historic Name Location Type of Resource  Date
25 Ross Crypt Newhalem Site 1939 c.
26a Newhalem Creek Powerhouse
(Power Tunnel) Newhalem Creek Structure 1920
26b Newhalem Creek Powerhouse
(Steel Penstock) Newhalem Creek Structure 1921
34 House #2 (Building H-6) Diablo (Hollywood) Building 1938
40 Diablo Water Tower Diablo Structure 1934
Q/ £ L o foo
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LIST OF NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number Historic Name Location Type of Resource Date
26¢ Newhalem Creek Powerhouse

(Powerhouse) Newhalem Creek Building 1969
26b Newhalem Creek Powerhouse

(Dam) Newhalem Creek Structure 1969

p/ / )é-—\ /241
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This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations of eligibility for individual properties or districts. See instructions in Guidelines
for Completing Natiorial Register Forms (National Register Bulietin 16). Complete each item by marking “x’ in the appropriate box or by entering
the requested information. If an item does not apply to the property being documented, enter *“N/A" for “‘not applicable.” For functions, styles, materials,
and areas of significance, enter only the categories and subcategories listed in the instructions. For additional space use continuation sheets

(Form 10-900a). Type all entries.
1. Name of Property Skagit River and Newhalem Creek Hydroelectric Projects

historic name
other names/site number

2. Location

street & number  Highway 20 Corridor __J not for publication
city, town 14 Miles between Newhalem and Ross Dam [ vicinity
state Washington code WA county  Whatcom code 073 zip code 98283

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
D private [:] building(s) Contributihg Noncontributing
[X7] public-local district 22 5  buildings
[ ] public-State [site 3 0 sites
"] public-Federal [ structure 5 6 structures
[ object 1 0 objects
31 11 Total
. Name of related muiltiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
Hydroelectric Power Plants in Washington State listed in the National Register 4

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this

nomination D request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
In my opinion, the property @ meets Ddoes not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet. ’

Signature of certifying official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

e
In m}p _F ion, the property x] meets [Jdoes not meet the National Register criteria. [_] see continuation sheet.
A Al ORNUTY SHD ‘ 2.21 G,
Signatyre of commenting ‘or other official Date

Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation
State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, cenrtify that this property is:

ﬂentered in the National Register. -
DSee continuation sheet. . - # g'z (/3 ‘ gk
[l determined eligible for the National

Register. El See continuation sheet.
» [[Jdetermined not eligible for the
National Register.

D removed from the National Register.
[other, (explain:)

d_ Signature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use
Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Government: Electric Generating Plant Government: Electric Gemerating Plant
Recreation and Culture: Municipal Resort Recreation and Culture: Municipal Resort
Domestic Institutional Housing Domestic Institutional Housing N
Landscape Landscape -
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)
toundation Concrete
Other: Industrial Vernacular walls Concrete
Bungalow/Craftsman Wood
Neo-Classicism roof Ribbed Metal
other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

7. Physical Description

The Skagit River Hydroelectric Project is an interconnected system of three hydro-
electric plants--Gorge, Diablo and Ross--and two company towns--Newhalem and Diablo--
located on the upper Skagit River, which runs through the Cascade Range in Northern
Washington state. Associated with the project is the Newhalem Creek Hydroelectric
Project, located on a tributary of the Skagit River. The plants and towns are owned

by the City of Seattle and operated by the municipal utility, Seattle City Light.
Developed over a fifty year span, beginning in 1913, the Projects have a wide range

of historic and nonhistoric resources, including structures, objects, sites and buildings,
with an even broader range of functions. They are inextricably linked, both

historically and physically, to the development of hydroelectric powar for the S-
City of Seattle. Collectively, the resources possess sufficient integrity to both
represent the evolution of hydroelectric power development in the west, and to

display the creation and growth of a rare type of planned community--the
municipally-owned company town. In addition, some features of the project--Diablo

Dam and Powerhouse--have high aesthetic value in their own right, and one resource--
Ladder Creek Falls Gardens--is a unique designed landscape on a regional, if not

national level.

E See continuation sheet
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7. Physical Description, Continued

The boundaries of the historic district extend in a linear, but disconnected, fashion along the
Skagit River, from the town of Newhalem to the Diablo Powerhouse and Dam. The extensive
nature of the district, which totals three miles in length--excluding reservoirs--is due to the
sequence of towns and industrial resources located along the river, beginning at the relatively flat
bar area on which the town of Newhalem is located. It continues upriver to encompass the Gorge
Powerhouse and Gorge High Dam; Diablo Powerhouse, a portion of the town of Diablo, the Diablo
Incline Railroad, and Diablo Dam. Ross Dam and Ross Powerhouse are not included within the
district, since the structure and building post-date the historic period, however their role in the
historic development of the project is addressed in the text. The lakes formed by the dams are not
included within the district, since their configurations were not significantly influenced by man.
While headworks and powerhouses are generally considered as one resource, in this nomination
they are evaluated separately, due to the changes at the headworks of some of the plants.

There are four additional discontiguous resources included in the district: the Ross Crypt, located
within the town of Newhalem, but beyond historic district boundaries (Resource #25); the
Newhalem Creek Powerhouse Site, south of the town of Newhalem on Newhalem Creek (Resource
#26); a 1938 building in the Hollywood area of Diablo (Resource #34), a 1934 water tower in the
town of Diablo (Resource #40). In addition, there are two discontiguous resources which have
potential significance, but about which, at present, there is insufficient information available; the
Dohne Cabin site, an archaeological site, and the Stetattle Creek Bridge, near the town of Diablo.
Neither of these resources have been assigned numbers, but are discussed in the text.

Generally, those resources within the district which have been evaluated as noncontributing either
post-date the historic period or have been subjected to significant alterations, affecting their
integrity. For example, the suspension bridge between Newhalem and the Trail of the Cedars
(Resource #24) has been entirely rebuilt twice since its initial construction in 1920-21.

4
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The following is a list of the contributing and noncontributing resources within the district,
beginning at its westernmost--downstream--end, organized according to geographic location.1

A. Town of Newhalem .

Boundaries:

See Section 10.

Total Number of Contributing Resources: 19
Total Number of Non-Contributing Resources: 5

LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:
Number Historic Name

55555K5§55wmqmmhmww

Silk Stocking Row House #8

Silk Stocking Row House #7

Silk Stocking Row House #6

Silk Stocking Row House #5

Silk Stocking Row House #4

Silk Stocking Row House #3

Silk Stocking Row House #2

Silk Stocking Row House #1

Schoolteacher's House (House #222)

Garages #1-22

The Hotel (Bunkhouse #23)

Commissary

Bunkhouse #13 (Pansy House)

New Cook’'s Bunkhouse (Bunkhouse #10)
Mess Hall (Gorge Inn) .
Old Cook's Bunkhouse (Library)

Tourist Dormitory #70 (Bunkhouse #70)
U.S.G.S. Stream Gauging Station and Cable Car
Old Number Six

LIST OF NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number
20
21
2

PA]
A

Historic Name

Fire Hall

Tourist Restroom (Visitor's Center)
Currier Hall

Gazebo

Trail of the Cedars Suspension Bridge

Type of Resource
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Buildings
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Building
Structure
Object

Type of Resource
Building

‘Building

Building
Structure
Structure

1921
1935
1909/1923
1928

Date
¢.1956
c.1934

1957
c. 1982
c.1975
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B. Gorge Powerhouse and Dam Complex2
Boundaries: See Section 10

Contributing Resources: 4
NonContributing Resources: 3 .

LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESQURCES:
Nmnbﬂ Historic Name Type of Resource Date
Gorge Powerhouse Building
% Gorge Railroad Bridge Structure c.1935
29 Gravity Oil Tank House ' Building c.1928
30 Ladder Creek Falls Gardens Site 1928
I I N ES;

Number Historic Name Type of Resource  Date
31 Gorge Pedestrian Suspension Bridge Structure c. 1983
2 Gorge High Dam Structure 1961
3 Gorge Diversion Dam Structure 1950

C. Diablo Powerhouse and Dam Complex
Boundaries: See Section 10

Contributing Resources: 4
NonContributing Resources: 3

IST QF CONTRIBUTING RE ES:
Number  Historic-Present Day Name f our Date
35 Diablo Powerhouse ‘ Building 1936
36 Incline Waiting Station Building 1934
37 Incline Lift and Powerhouse Structure 1928
42 Diablo Dam Structure 1830
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LIST OF NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number Historic Name Tvpe of Resource  Date
33 Diablo Commissary Building 1952°
39 Diablo Communications Building ' Building ¢.1935
41 Incline Manlift Structure 1953

D. Single Discontiguous Contributing Resources

Total Contributing Resources: 4

LIST OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES:

Number Historic Name Location - Type of Resource  Date
25 Ross Crypt Newhalem Site ¢.1939
26 Newhalem CreekPowerhouse Site Newhalem Creek  Site 1921

H# House #2 (Building H-6) Diablo (Hollywood) Building 1938

40 Diablo Water Tower Diablo Structure 1934
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Natural Features

The Cascade Range runs north-south, bisecting the state of Washington. It is characterized by
high, snow-laden peaks, cirques and vast snowfields which yield to dense evergreen forests on the
western slopes, and arid open pine forests on the east. The area between Snoqualmie Pass and the

- Canadian border, where the Skagit Hydroelectric Project is located, is commonly referred to as the
North Cascades. The Skagit Metamorphic Suite--the schists, gneisses and migmatites exposed
along Highway 20 which runs through the Project--was created during the orogeny which formed
the major structural units of the Cascades, approximately 90 million years ago. Advancing and
retreating, slow-moving glaciers during the Pleistocene Epoch created U-shaped valleys, sheer
cliffs and arétes in the mountains, leaving behind lakes, ponds, and tarns.

- The district is located within the boundaries of the Ross Lake National Recreation Area unit of the
North Cascades National Park Service Complex, which consists of over a half-million acres of
forest lands, alpine environments and river systems. Until the North Cascades park and two
national recreation areas were created in 1968, the Skagit Hydroelectric Project was located
within the Mount Baker National Forest. It is near the center of over two million acres of
recreational land spanning three Washington counties--Chelan, Skagit and Whatcom, most of
which are under the jurisdiction of the United States Forest Service. The Project itself reaches
across two counties--Whatcom and Skagit. .

The principal mountain peaks visible from the district are Mt. Logan (9,080 feet); Jack Mountain
(9,070 feet); Colonial Peak (8,000 feet); Pyramid Peak (7,600 feet); Davis Peak (7,150 feet), Ruby
Mountain(7,408 feet); Ross Mountain (6,052 feet), and Sourdough Mountain (5,977 feet). Ladder
Creek Falls, which originates in Snowfield Peak (8,350 feet), is a significant natural feature
which drops over 3,000 feet during its six mile run, and is incorporated into a designed landscape
within the Project.

Five major rivers drain the North Cascades National Park Service Complex; of these, the Skagit
River, the second largest river in the state, is the most prominent. It rises in Beaver Lake in
Canada and flows in a southerly direction through densely-forested lowlands for more than fifty
miles, before turning west towards the Pacific Ocean, where it ends its 140 mile course. The
Skagit River basin topography ranges from the high mountains of the North Cascades, with
elevations of 8,000 and 9,000 feet, to tidal marshes and sloughs in the river delta prior to its
entrance into Puget Sound. Between the Canadian border and the town of Newhalem, the river
drops over 1,000 feet in about 40 miles. As it shifts to a westerly course, just above the north end of
the district, it is compressed into deep, narrow, rock-walled canyons and gorges.
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A series of creeks and rivers drain into the Skagit as it travels to the Sound. The Skagit
Hydroelectric Project has altered the nature of the river from the Canadian border to Newhalem,;
its series of three dams--Ross, Diablo and High Gorge--have created three lakes, the largest of
which is Ross Lake, twenty-four miles long, extending one-half mile into Canada. Diablo Lake
reaches five miles, from Diablo Dam to Ross Dam, and Gorge Lake, a part of the Skagit
impounded by Gorge High Dam, extends four and one-half miles to Diablo Dam. Among the
Skagit tributaries are Ruby Creek, which enters the Skagit just above Ross Dam; Thunder Creek,
which debouches into Diablo Lake; Stetattle Creek, joining just west of the town of Diablo; Gorge
Creek and Gorge Falls, which enter Gorge Lake; Ladder Creek; Newhalem Creek, the location of
the Project's first dam and powerhouse; and Goodell Creek, the site of the Project's first employee
camp. Below the town of Newhalem, the Cascade, Sauk and Baker Rivers flow into the Skagit.

The terrain throughout the Skagit Gorge is rugged, with sheer granite cliffs and rock outcroppings
framing the once rushing waters of the river below. The area supports a rich variety of flora and
fauna. Native trees include a variety of maples, Western birch, Douglas fir, hemlock, pine,
cedar, alder, madrona, yew and mountain ash. Wildlife include blacktail deer, black and brown
bear, beaver, marten, otters, osprey, eagles and ptarmigans.
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Historic Physical Development of the Skagit Hydroelectric Project

The Upper Skagit Prior to City Light

Prior to the 1880s, miners seeking gold were the principal Euro-American occupants of the Upper
Skagit. The principal route through the future site of the hydroelectric project was a narrow trail

~ with crude bridges spanning creeks. Miners lived in log cabins near their claim sites. In 1895 the
Washington Board of State Road Commissioners was created to survey routes through the North
Cascades in an attempt to establish a road linking the eastern and western parts of the state. In
July of that year, an engineer and three commissioners set out from Marblemount, the
easternmost community along the Skagit at that time, southwest of the present town of Newhalem.
They described what development existed at that time:

The trail to Slate Creek from Marble Mount runs for seventeen miles
through the forest and along the Skagit River, over a fairly-level country,
but after the first four miles some rock is found. In the tenth mile the
"Devil's Dream"” (a trail made in front of a rock wall by rude bridges above
the Skagit River to avoid rock work) is reached. The trail then runs along
level bottom land mostly until the end of the seventeenth mile is reached.
The eighteenth mile begins with a rock point, where the Skagit Canyon and
rapids are first encountered. The trail here passes along a very high rock
bluff, and the work is heavy for the first mile, but some lighter in the
nineteenth mile, which brings us to the site of the old goat trail bridge, which
washed away in the floods of 1894. At this point the celebrated "Goat Trail"
begun and extended to Cedar Bar, a distance of 2 1/2 miles; and, up to within
a few days of our arrival, the only mode of travel over it was on foot, using a
ladder to scale the most difficult points. The volunteer work done in the
spring of 1895 by blasting half tunnels through perpendicular cliffs and
constructing rude bridges across chasms made it passable for small horses,
but still the grades, in places are excessive, and the bridges and trail
dangerous and difficult for even the lightest pony traffic...It is a
picturesque place and rugged enough for the most ardent mountain
climber.3

In 1897 twenty-one million acres of public domain lands in the northwest were withdrawn by
Executive Order to create the federal forest reserves in Washington, of which the North Cascades
National Park Service Complex is now a part. Nearly 3.6 million acres on both sides of the North
Cascades became known as the Washington Forest Reserve, the largest of the reserves created by
the Presidential Proclamation. In 1905 the administration of the reserves was transferred from
the General Land Office and the Department of the Interior to the Bureau of Forestry in the
Department of Agriculture, and that year the United States Forest Service (U.S.F.S.) was created to
administer these lands. In 1907 the Washington Forest Reserve became the Washington National
Forest; a year later the vast acreage it encompassed was subdivided into smaller forests, of which
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the Washington National Forest was one, administered by a regional office established in
Portland, Oregon. In 1924, the name of the forest in which the Skagit Hydroelectric Project is
located was changed to the Mount Baker National Forest. The City of Seattle was to deal frequently
with representatives of the U.S. Forest Service over the years, and the Forest Service was to have an
influence on many decisions affecting the development of the city's project, including the design
of some extant buildings within it.

A second federal agency had a presence within the future Skagit Hydroelectric Project : the United
States Geological Survey (U.S.G.S.) was, by the early years of the twentieth century, building and
maintaining stream-gauging stations along the rivers and snow survey courses in the high
country. Stream gauging stations were sited along the Skagit River at Reflector Bar and Stetattle
Creek, although neither lasted past 1916. However, one site, established in 1909, at the south end of
the future town of Newhalem, was not abandoned, and in the late teens or early 1920s, Seattle City
Light took over the operation of the station, designed to measure water depths. In 1923 a concrete
structure was built near the river on the site established by the U.S.G.S.(Resource #18). It had a
Stevens Continuous Recorder and a wood staff gauge, still extant, to measure the height of the river
along the bank. In addition, a cable car built by the U.S.G.S. in 1909 was maintained by the City
after it took possession of the site in 1918, and, although the original timber A frame to support the
cable on the north bank was replaced after the second World War, the deadmen and the original
cable are intact .

By the late 1890s, ten known homesteaders had settled along the banks of the Skagit River north
and east of Marblemount. The settler furthest east was August Dohne, who in 1897 purchased
several log buildings on the north side of the Skagit River, west of Newhalem Creek. Situated on
the trail leading upriver, and at almost the last site before the Skagit canyon walls narrowed, the
site had been the location of a store for miners, established by N.E. Goodell in the late 1870s.
Goodell's Landing, as it was called, had passed through several hands, turning into a roadhouse
where miners could obtain lodging, food and supplies, when Dohne purchased it.4 After a fire
destroyed the structures in 1901, Dohne rebuilt, erecting two houses and a barn. When Dohne died
in 1918, his probated land was sold by the court to a Sedro Woolley investment company, which in
turn sold it--under condemnation-- to the City of Seattle, by then exploring the Skagit for dam sites.
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Gorge Camp and Goodell Creek City

By the spring of 1918, the City of Seattle had survey and drilling crews exploring possible dam sites
for hydroelectric development on the Skagit. By March of 1919, the Diamond Drilling Company,
operated by three brothers--Dick, Dan and Pat Lynch--was under contract with the city to bore cores
for bedrock analysis at various sites along the river. Their crew of forty was housed in tents above
Gorge Creek. The first structure built in connection with the Skagit Hydroelectric Project was a
two-story rectangular log building which served as the company office, dining room, kitchen and
warehouse, located near Gorge Creek. Workers for the company referred to the building and tents
as Gorge Camp.5 The camp was abandoned when the drilling crew finished their work in the
early 1920s; the log building lasted until the late 1930s, gradually falling into ruin.

In November of 1919 the city engineer's office negotiated a permit with the U.S.F.S. district
forester for permission to erect a sawmill and cut timber necessary for construction on the Skagit
Project. The request also included permission to use the buildings left on Dohne's claim at
Goodell Creek, south of the present state highway through Newhalem. These included several
cabins and a large barn, which the city planned to use to house a twelve-man sawmill crew . One
of two large cabins was used as a dining room and cookhouse; the other for sleeping quarters. The
city's agent stationed in Marblemount, W.F. Paddock, was instructed to evaluate the furnishing
needs, ranging from stoves to utensils and bedding.6

In February of 1920, the construction crew completed a timber frame sawmill, with a 25,000 board
foot capacity, and mill pond near the foot of Goodell Creek. The creek's course shifted several
hundred feet to the east during flooding in the 1940s; the sawmill and later sawmill camp
associated buildings were erected on the west side of the present creek’s former course, north of the
present state highway. By May of 1920 plans had been drawn by Seattle City Engineering
Department for two large wood gable-roofed buildings to serve as a mess house and additional
bunkhouse. The latter additions served to house additional construction crews engaged in
erecting the "temporary” power plant on Newhalem Creek and first building crews for the
construction camp rising further east, nearer the site of the proposed Gorge Powerhouse. Some of
the buildings at Goodell Creek "City" lasted into the 1950s, although the sawmill had vanished by
the late 1930s. Today, there are no buildings dating from this period of development still standing
near Goodell Creek, and no above-ground remains of Dohne's structures are believed to be extant,
although a few aged lilacs are present near the site.

Newhalem Creek Powerhouse Site (Resource #26)

In the summer of 1918 the city engineer's department sent a hydrographer and an assistant to the
Skagit to determine the location of a temporary generating station which would supply power for
construction of the future dam and the camp that would have to be built to house workers.7
Newhalem Creek, which fed into the Skagit from the south, between Goodell Creek and the future
site of the Gorge Powerhouse, was selected. In 1920 a 2,770 foot power tunnel, about 5 by 7 feet, was
bored through gneiss to bring the waters of Newhalem Creek to the vicinity of what would be a

small powerhouse, from a low log crib dam, some 3,000 feet upstream. A 500-foot long steel
penstock was installed to connect the power tunnel to the small powerhouse; it split in two just
outside the building to supply water to two Pelton wheels. The powerhouse was a wood frame, gable-
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roofed rectangular structure, enclosing a two-story volume, with board and batten siding. Wood
sash windows with six-over-six lights were located at the first story and below the roof eaves. A
pair of oversized swinging doors were located near the southerly end of the building. In 1921 the
two Pelton impulse turbines and a 2000 kva horizontal shaft Westinghouse generator were
installed. The plant began operation in August of 1921. In the early 1950s, the plant was semi-
automated, allowing it to operate unmanned, except for start-up and shut-down.

Although initially intended as a temporary plant for construction purposes, the Newhalem
powerhouse and dam remained in operation, supplying City Camp--later Newhalem--with 2,000
kva until July of 1966, when the powerhouse burned down. During the fire, which fed rapidly on the
dry cedar siding and old timber of the powerhouse, a flange gasket in one line of the bifurcated
penstock behind the powerhouse blew out, creating a 60- to 70-foot high sheet of water behind the
powerhouse; it was this curtain of water which prevented the spread of the fire and loss of trees and
timber on the hill behind the powerhouse.8

The power plant was rebuilt, utilizing the original power tunnel and penstock. During the fire, the
the machinery continued to run, which kept the shaft of the generator from warping from the heat.
Thus, the only major repair required on the Westinghouse unit was rewinding. The Pelton
wheels also survived the fire, and underwent minor welding repairs. The turbines and generator
are still operating in the plant, although they have been controlled remotely from Gorge
Powerhouse's control room since the early 1970s.9

After the fire, a new 9-foot high concrete diversion dam was built, 4 1/2-feet thick and 47-feet wide,
near the site of the original crib dam. A new wood frame powerhouse was built, with vertical board
siding and a gable roof. The power tunnel was cleaned out, and some routine maintenance
performed on the original penstock. The plant, officially titled the Newhalem Creek
Hydroelectric Project, went back on line in February of 1970. In 1984 the Newhalem diversion
dam and apron, damaged from bedload abrasion, received major structural repairs, and the
gatehouse, destroyed by a floating tree during an unusually high freshet, was replaced at the same
time. The plant is licensed and operated independently of the Skagit Project, but is staffed by City
Light personnel from the Gorge Powerhouse.

Gorge Hydroelectric Power Plant

The Gorge Powerhouse, completed in 1924, is located at the east end of the town of Newhalem, on the
opposite side of the Skagit River. The Gorge High Dam, built between 1955 and 1961, is several
miles upstream, below Gorge Creek, in the lower part of the narrow, fourteen mile gorge through
which the Skagit flows.

When the site for the first dam on the Skagit was identified by the Lynch crew, the Lighting
Department proceeded with construction of the power plant. In October of 1921, R.C. Storrie
Company of San Francisco was awarded the contract to build the Gorge power tunnel. City crews
began to work on the powerhouse, which was completed on time, but the work on the power tunnel
fell behind schedule. Storrie Company used jackhammers connected to eight inch pipes which
carried compressed air from air compressors installed in a building in Newhalem. The
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compressors were electrically-powered by the Newhalem Power Plant, which was also supplying
electricity for construction of the powerhouse, Newhalem buildings and living quarters. The
electrical demands were too much for the small plant, and squabbles over priority rights to power
rose, as the City Camp and construction projects experienced shortages. By August of 1924, almost
three years after work started, the power tunnel was completed. By that time, two 30,000 kva
Westinghouse generators powered by S. Morgan Smith turbines, rated at 38,800 horsepower each,
had been installed in the powerhouse--a third unit was installed in 1929, giving the plant a
capability of 60,000 kva, although it didn't achieve that rating until Diablo Dam was built-- and
city crews had begun construction of the first Gorge Dam.

The "temporary” rock-filled timber crib dam was built in 1923 to raise the river thirty feet, and
divert the flow into an 11,000 foot long, concrete-lined power tunnel, with a head of 270 feet. With
the project already over budget and deadlines, the city opted to build this wood weir, rather than a
masonry dam. By October of 1920, the Skagit Project's Chief Engineer, C.F. Uhden, and the city
engineer, A.H. Dimock, had determined that the originally planned high dam at Gorge, which
they felt would increase the head over 25 percent, would not be built at that time, due to time and
money constraints, nor would a low masonry dam, which had been inserted into the plan later.
Instead, Dimock reported, they decided to build a "...temporary timber crib dam which will serve
for the present to divert the water to the pressure tunnel and will later serve as a diversion weir
during the construction of the high dam."10 City crews also erected a transmission line to a
substation north of Seattle. On September 14, 1924, the first electric power from the Skagit
Hydroelectric Project was sent to Seattle.

In 1929 the city raised the existing crib dam two feet in height to help alleviate problems with gravel
sweeping into the intake, and low water levels which affected the plant's efficiency. At this time
the third units was installed in the powerhouse. In 1950 a concrete diversion dam was built to
replace the wooden crib dam, which had lasted far longer than its anticipated life of four or five
years, and a fourth generator was added, increasing the plant's capability to 108,000 kw.

In the summer of 1948 work began on a 100-foot extension to the Gorge Powerhouse, which would
house the new generator and provide additional operation space. The reinforced concrete addition
is architecturally sympathetic to the original Neo-classic concrete and steel building. By October
of 1949 the plant was back in operation. Also in 1948-49, an additional power tunnel was built to
carry water to the new generating unit, and a new transmission line was built from Gorge to
Seattle. In 1959, during Gorge High Dam construction, work began on modernizing the four
generators, bring the plant's capability to 173,000 kw; further work on the fourth generating unit in
1961 brought the Gorge Power Plant's capability to 178,000 kw.

The present dam is the third to be located in roughly the same area; the 1950 masonry dam is still
extant, but covered by the impounded waters behind the new dam. Gorge High Dam's
construction--with a gross head of 385 feet, increasing the capacity of the plant by 70,000 kilowatts--
was envisioned in 1920, but its development to full capacity could only be accomplished after Ross
Dam--also anticipated by that date-- was completed. In 1920, C.F. Uhden anticipated the final
Gorge Dam would be 240 feet high, with two 11,000 foot long power tunnels. The dam is in fact 300
feet high from bedrock, and utilizes the one, original 11,000 foot long tunnel.11
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For additional information on the plant, refer to the National Register of Historic Places Multiple
Property Documentation Form, Hydroelectric Power Plants in Washington State, 1890-1938,
prepared by Lisa Soderberg and revised by Leonard Garfield, and approved by the National
Register on December 15, 1988. Please note that errors or 1ncon51stenc1es in that nomination have
been corrected in this present nomination.

Newhalem (City Camp)

The town of Newhalem is located on a relatively flat bar encompassing approximately 31 acres. It
has a roughly linear shape, bounded by gorge cliffs on the north, and the Skagit River on the south
and east. The formal west boundary has shifted several times since its establishment, as
temporary buildings have been built and razed. Its present west gateway begins approximately
three-quarters of a mile from the town center. The Gorge Powerhouse is located across the Skagit
River to the east, visually terminating the east-west axis of the town.

On October 1, 1919 C.F. Uhden was appointed chief engineer in charge of the Skagit project. By
January 26 of 1920 he had begun to assemble a staff of draftsmen to prepare plans and
specifications for the system.12 By early summer his staff, apparently operating under the
supervision of the city engineer, A.H. Dimock, had prepared plans for principal construction
camp buildings which were to be built in the forested flat land between Goodell City and the site of
the future Gorge powerhouse. The staff also began to design and draw Gorge power plant features,
including the Gorge penstocks. While this work was going on in Seattle, the sawmill crews on the
Skagit were clearing timber from the site for construction of the buildings. When the sawmill
began operation in the spring, the logs were milled for use in the buildings.

Construction on a railroad from Rockport, twenty-three miles southwest of the Gorge power plant
site, began in early spring of 1920. The city purchased the rails from the Great Northern Railway
Company. At this time, Dimock noted that the new line was only to be used for construction of the
power plant, anticipating that the railroad would be sold by the city after construction "...to anyone
desiring to operate it as a common carrier."13 However, the city continued to operate the road until
its removal in 1954.

The city engineering department, under Uhden, prepared a general layout of the construction
camp, which would accommodate city workers erecting the powerhouse and dam, and provide
general services to other construction crews in the camp, including the contractor hired to drill the
power tunnel connecting the powerhouse and dam. The general design scheme appears to have
been determined, initially, by functional considerations. The topography of the site, sandwiched
between the Skagit River to the southeast and sheer granite cliffs to the northwest, required a linear
organization of buildings, which were placed along a grid of "streets" perpendicular to an east-
west spine, defined by the railroad. The railroad, soon to be the principal means of access to the
camp from Rockport for workers, equipment and supplies, was built along the base of the cliffs. Its
location at the northerly edge of the flatland was the most direct route, heading east from Goodell
Creek along the cliffs, branching across the Skagit upriver from its westerly bend, with one line
continuing to the Gorge dam site and one across a railroad bridge to the Gorge powerhouse.
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Upper Camp

There were two major interrelated groups of buildings in City Camp. The easterly end of the
camp, which occupied roughly two-thirds of the flatland, was referred to as the Upper Camp. It was
bisected by Main Street, which began at the railroad tracks and ran perpendicular to them towards
the river, terminating at a suspension bridge, built in 1920 (Resource #24) which crossed the
Skagit.

The principal town buildings were located along both sides of Main Street. Designed between June
and August of 1920, by November they were built and in use. They included a twenty-four man
bunkhouse-- Bunkhouse #23,later referred to as the Hotel--on the northwesterly corner of Main
Street (Resource #11); the Office, south of the bunkhouse; the Warehouse, on the northeasterly
corner of main street, next to and parallel to the tracks; the Commissary (Resource #12), south of
the Warehouse; and the Mess Hall (Resource #15), located at the southeast corner of the street.
These structures all were wood frame buildings, sided with one-by vertical boards and one-by-
three battens. They had two-ply Malthoid roofing, secured by battens, and multi-light wood sash
double-hung windows. In March of 1921, two additional buildings were designed for the camp,
and construction on both began simultaneously in April. Located at the southwest end of Main
Street, the Theater and Amusement Hall became the center of camp, and later town, social
activities. The Theater--later referred to as the Big Hall--measured thirty-seven by eighty-one
feet and was located on the southwesterly corner of Main Street. It was to serve both the town
residents and tourists, who, in years to come, would gather there in summer evenings to view
colored lantern (slide) shows, narrated by the Superintendent of Lighting, J.D. Ross, and, later,
movies about the project, and participate or watch skits produced on its stage. The Amusement
Hall--also referred to as the Club Room, and later, the Little Hall--measured twenty-six by
seventy-two feet. The Little Hall served as a gathering place for small groups of townspeople. For
some years it also served as a library, and between 1927 and 1952, was to be used as a school for
younger grade school children. Both halls were gable-roofed buildings with board and batten
siding, multi-light double-hung wood sash windows, and wood shingled roofs.

In the summer of 1921, the warehouse was extended towards the east , making it one of the largest
structures in camp, measuring forty by one-hundred feet; it was later extended another eighty-four
feet. The warehouse, with a platform extending along its northerly edge for unloading materials
and supplies from the railroad, contained all items needed to operate and build the camp. It also
housed the Skagit Project's railroad dispatchers, and included an office for Dana Currier, the
superintendent of the Project's general division.

Five north-south rows of twenty-four man bunkhouses--a total of eighteen--were located to the
northeast of Main Street. With the exception of the row closest to Main Street, each consisted of four
rectangular, twenty-six by eighty foot gable-roofed buildings, with the ridges oriented east-west.
The westernmost row had two standard bunkhouses, and a smaller forty-four by twenty-six foot
gable-roofed "Cook's Bunkhouse (Resource #16)," north and east of the Mess Hall . Small twenty-
seven by eight foot gable-roofed wash houses were located between the first and second, and third
and fourth bunkhouse in each row. All of the one-story bunkhouses were sided with rough-sawn
vertical boards. They had pairs of multi-light wood sash windows flanking centrally-located
doors on the side elevations, doors on each end, leading to interior double-loaded corridors, and
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roofs sheathed with two-ply roll roofing, secured by battens. Each twelve by twelve bunkhouse
room was equipped with two beds and a table.

A gable and shed roofed building north of one of the bunkhouse rows served as a heating plant,
providing steam heating to the bunkhouses and principal service buildings. By the fall of 1921 all
of the bunkhouses had been erected, and an addition had been made to the west end of the Cook's
Bunkhouse, which made it virtually identical to the other bunkhouses in the group. In addition, a
"foremen's" bunkhouse, similar to the others, had been built about fifty feet southeast of the Mess
Hall.

A gabled hospital building was built approximately 100 feet southwest of the Office on Main Street
in the summer of 1920. By 1927, a concrete slab for a tennis court had been poured to the south of it,
and nets installed.

Four streets running parallel to Main Street were originally planned, although only two were
actually developed: First Street, directly west of Main Street, and Second Street. A portion of Third
Street was installed in the 1960s. A total of nineteen three-room wood frame cottages were built on
rectangular lots along both sides of both streets in the summer of 1920, designed to house families of
men working on construction, and later for families of workers at the power plant. The cottages
had one by twelve rough sawn vertical board siding--no battens--and, like most of the other
structures in camp, Malthoid roll roofing. Outhouses were placed behind the buildings.

Functional structures were built along the railroad tracks, which split into two lines just west of
Bunkhouse #23 (the Hotel), and split again into spurs north of the steam plant. Designed and built
-in 1920 and 1921, most were erected on the northerly side of the tracks. From west to east, they
included two forty by fourteen gable-roofed structures, the Speeder House and a coal house; a gable-
roofed building with a shed-roofed wing, which served as an oil house, and a T-shaped cross-gable
roofed car barn and engine house, which terminated a short spur directly north of the warehouse.
A horse barn, machine and blacksmith shop, and a second car barn were built in the northeast
area of the flat, interspersed with structures built by R.C. Storrie and Company, who had been hired
to drill the power tunnel for the Gorge plant. The Storrie buildings included a warehouse and shop,
a blacksmith shop, a combination office and boarding house, and a large compression plant
building housing electrically powered air compressors connected to eight inch pipe which carried
the compressed air to jack hammers at the power tunnel site. A large gable-roofed car barn
measuring 62 by 156 feet, with four railroad spurs leading into it, was built just south of the Storrie
and Company compression plant. The car barn was later converted to use as as a machine shop,
and was not demolished until the present-day service center on the east end of Newhalem was built
in the 1960s.

By July of 1921 a two-span Howe truss railroad bridge, 250 feet long, was built above the westerly
turn of the Skagit, connecting City Camp with the site of the Gorge Powerhouse and the dam
beyond. The bridge was replaced after 1928 and before 1948 by a two-span Pratt truss bridge, 308
feet long.
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Lower Camp

Approximately 450 feet southwest of the last row of cottages on Second Street the city erected a one
room school house, which was completed in the fall of 1921. The school was one of the few structures
in camp at that time with some ornamental detailing and finished siding; it still stands in
Newhalem, although it has been much altered. To the west of the school was Lower Camp. Its
streets, Fifth through Ninth, were parallel to each other, but at a slight angle--approximately 25
degrees--to the grid established by Main Street and the bunkhouses, reflecting the westerly curve of
the river and the railroad, which began in the vicinity of the school. Lower Camp consisted of a
total of fourteen two-room wood frame cottages, and thirty-five additional three-room cottages,
arranged on lots perpendicular to the "streets.” People living in these structures had no indoor
plumbing, relying, like the cottages in upper camp, on outhouses.

Silk Stocking Row

In early September of 1921, Dimock sent J.D. Ross, the superintendent of the Seattle City Lighting
Department, a layout for what he referred to as "...permanent houses for operators at the Skagit,"
along with drawings for one of them. Ross had apparently asked the engineering department to
prepare designs for such buildings, already planning for the time when dam construction would
be finished and permanent housing would be necessary. Asking Ross for suggestions, Dimock
advised that "...we should try to make them [the houses] as attractive and pleasant as may be
possible within the limits of reasonable expense."14

An April, 1921, drawing of the layout showed twelve proposed buildings, arranged along a
southwest-northeast axis, between where Sixth and Third Streets would end near the river. In this
drawing, the buildings were arranged in response to the axes of the streets; the drawing sent to
Ross in September had ten cottages, extending between where Third Street would terminate and an
area to the east of the end of First Street. The structures still served as the spatial termination of the
streets, but they were arranged in a gentle curve, responding more to the orientation of the Skagit
and the change in topography than to the grid imposed by the streets. Their front elevations faced
the river, rather than the town.

The designs sent to Ross were for Design Number 1, drawn in March of 1921. The design was to be
used in two houses--numbers four and eight, the numbering system extending from east to west.
Ross apparently approved of the designs, for by the late fall these two houses were under
construction per the plans submitted to Ross in September (Resources #1 and 4). According to
Dimock, the houses would be built "...in the interim of other work, thus keeping our forces
employed to better advantage."15

That is how both design and construction proceeded on the permanent cottages that came to be
known as Silk Stocking Row, a common construction camp term for the most desirable housing
assigned to managers and key personnel. The bungalows on this row "...were built for the
operators and not for any other class of men and were bought there in the hope of making a more
contented operating force....when operators are changed the new man should take the home of the
one leaving or at least take one of the homes built for this purpose.”16
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Design Number 3, drawn in May of 1921, was used in cottage numbers three (Resource #6) and
nine, built in 1922. Design Number 2, drawn in May of 1922, was used in houses two, five and
seven (Resources #2, 4, and 7). In June, Design Number 4 was drawn, the only cottage with a
gambrel roof; the only cottage built with this design, number 6 (Resource #3), and building
number 1, using design number 1 (Resource #8), were completed by June of 1923.

The Silk Stocking Row houses were built in the "Bungalow” style; until the late 1920s, they, and the
school building, were the only Newhalem buildings exhibiting a finished appearance, with
shingled roofs, milled siding, daylight concrete basements, and ornamental detailing. Until the
1960s, they were the most sought-after housing in Newhalem, sheltering families of the project's
top managers.

By early summer of 1923, two additional three-room cottages, identical to others built in the camp,
had been built east of the first Silk Stocking Row building, and south of the Theater. With the
exception of a few rail-related structures along the tracks, including a large car barn near the east
end of town, and the upgrading and remodeling of some of the Main Street structures, Newhalem's
first building program was essentially complete.

By the late 1920s, twelve of the construction camp bunkhouses had been removed; the two
easternmost rows were demolished, and three bunkhouses in the next row to the west were torn
down. The washhouses were left standing. The town, now operating on electricity provided by
Gorge Powerhouse, relied on electric heaters, and the steam plant was demolished. Five R.C.
Storrie buildings, including the compression plant building, had been removed. In 1925 the city
purchased the R.C. Storrie office and boarding house on the north side of the tracks, and used it to
house approximately 15 single men.

Five three-room cottages in Upper Camp had been removed--one or two of these had burned down in
accidental fires. In the lower camp, the two-room cottages had all been demolished, as well as the
first easterly row of three-room cottages. Seven additional three room cottages in Lower Camp
were also gone, including four nearest the river and subject to flooding. No additional changes
were effected in the town until the early 1930s, when J.D. Ross's vision of the town as a tourist
resort and city public relations tool spurred new development.

There were approximately seventy individuals employed at the powerhouse and in camp in 1927,
all of whom required housing. There were forty-eight units in camp available for housing
families, including the nine structures on Silk Stocking Row. Individuals without families lived
in the remaining bunkhouses. With limited numbers of family housing units, a policy of housing
seniority was applied to employees in different "classes” of work on the project. Recently hired

~ employees, particularly laborers, were unable to bring their families to the Skagit, due to lack of
housing. The housing policy, frequently revised and increasingly complex over the years, was to
become a major source of dissatisfaction for workers on the Skagit, exacerbated by the growing
emphasis on facilities for tourism.
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Newhalem:  Tourist Town

Small tours comprised of Seattle politicians, influential businessmen and organized clubs had
been visiting the Skagit Hydroelectric Project, usually accompanied by J.D. Ross, since 1918.
Ross used these tours to promote support for development of the project, at first with key opinion
makers, and later with the general public. In 1924 City Light advertised one day excursions to the
Skagit in the Seattle Times. In 1925, Ross was publicly promoting the project as a future summer
resort in national magazines.17

In the summer of 1927, as construction on Diablo Dam got underway, hundreds of Seattle's citizens
took "...the opportunity to get acquainted with the wonders of the scenery and incidentally to
inspect their own giant hydro-electric development and watch construction of one of the greatest
water power projects in the world."18 Some construction camp bunkhouses east of Main Street,
and Bunkhouse Number 23, now the "Hotel," were used to house overnight visitors, who arrived by
train from Rockport in the afternoon. The tourists were served dinner, breakfast and lunch in the
Newhalem Mess Hall.

The two-day tours, with continuously increasing numbers of sites to visit as project construction
advanced, first at Diablo, and later at the Ruby dam site, eventually brought thousands of people to
the Skagit every summer; they continued until 1941, when the project, considered a vital wartime-
associated industry, was closed to outsiders. The seasonal influx of people increased the
population of Newhalem many times over during each tour, and became a major factor in the
development of the town. In 1928, Ross had ornamental iron light standards with five globe
clusters installed along Main Street, Silk Stocking Row, along the railroad tracks where visitors
disembarked from the train, and along paths in the bunkhouse complex east of Main Street. This
lighting system was not installed on the streets where the three-room cottages were built--and the
bulk of city light employees and their families lived-- either in the upper or lower camp areas. The
old standards and fixtures were removed and replaced in the 1950s.

By May of 1928 Ross had begun to develop additional plans for beautifying the project, where
"...Skagit admits of being a fairyland though it would cost money.” He told T.F. Kane, the
project's chief operating engineer, he wanted to "...make the place more livable and likeable."
His plan included painting the houses and mobilizing "the ladies” who lived in Newhalem into a
sort of landscape auxiliary to advise on locations for planting trees, shrubs, flowers and bulbs
near the cliffs behind Gorge Powerhouse, near the site of the Diablo plant, and along the river's
bank. He also asked for suggestions from them on the types of plants and trees to install,
including fruit, nut and ornamental trees, and for lists of shrubs, flowers and seeds they might
use for their own houses. Ross planned to do "...a lot of work myself and get all the plants needed
if I can get care and cooperation from them [the ladies]."19 .

Ross had also, by this time, secured the interest of Jake Umlauff, head gardener for the City of
Seattle; in the following years the Skagit was to receive many trees and plants, transplanted from
the city's greenhouses. Within a year of his initial correspondence with Kane on making the
project more livable, Ross was looking upon the horticultural projects as tourist draws, asking
Umlauff to consider tree planting schemes "...so that all those who go up there [the Skagit] will
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admire them..." and that City Light was "...getting out a little pamphlet for the visitors and will
tell them how we got the trees."20

Also in May of 1928 Ross had a city building department draftsman prepare sketches for the future
development of Newhalem, clearly oriented towards developing the town into a major resort, a
goal which, for the rest of his life, Ross pursued for the entire project as assiduously as he pursued
the development of hydroelectricity there. The design shifted the emphasis of the entire town from
Main Street to the west, in the area then occupied by family cottages between First and Third
Streets. Here, a formal oval-shaped drive, picking up the curved layout of Silk Stocking Row to the
south, enclosed a bilaterally symmetric arrangement of lawns, gardens and structures. At the
north center was a rectangular hotel building, flanked by wings perpendicular to the easterly-
westerly ridge line of the main building. A path from the south side of the hotel led to a circular
path, sixty feet in diameter, in the center of the oval, within which was a fountain and rock garden.
The oval was bisected by another path, running along an east-west axis, terminating in a ring
path which ran around the edge of the oval. Lawns would fill the spaces between the paths, and a
ring of shrubs would run between the perimeter path and the oval-shaped drive. A new railroad
station would be located north of the hotel, beyond an new east-west service road and the railroad
tracks. The hotel would have a rustic Chateauesque design, with clipped gable ends and gable-
roofed dormers, similar in style, form and massing to major lodgings built in western regional
national parks during the 1920s. The sketch indicated the warehouse, office, theater, commissary
and recreation buildings on Main Street would remain, but the mess hall and hotel would be gone,
presumably replaced by the chateau. There was no indication of what would replace the family
housing, already in short supply on the project.

In May Ross was planning to start work on the "...oval gardens where there are no houses to
interfere," however, the scheme was never realized.21 Construction delays on Diablo Dam and
political battles in Seattle regarding future development on the Skagit--including City Council
refusal to vote for funding appropriations for completion of the Diablo Powerhouse--may have
prevented its early implementation. The stock market crash in 1929, and a subsequent collapse of
the bond market was to delay completion of the powerhouse until 1936, although the dam was
finished in 1930.

This particular grand scheme of chateau and formal gardens was set aside. It did not, however,
prevent Ross from developing other features on the project that would attract thousands of visitors.
By July of 1929 Ross was reporting, "Of course I think the power project is the thing to be sought after
but in addition I think all of the people should keep in mind that we also have a tremendous asset in
the Skagit as a playground of Seattle...and anything that we can do to add beauty and ease of
transportation ...will be well worth while. Since the power is well on its way, perhaps we should
begin to think of these things also at this time and to this end I have planted about 100 trees and will
plant several hundred more this fall."22 That summer he began to develop Ladder Creek Falls, a
combined arboretum and son et lumiére show rarely seen or heard in the United States to that time,
outside of world's fairs and expositions.

By the 1930 tourist season, Newhalem could accommodate 150 overnight tourists. They were
housed in six of the eight remaining construction camp bunkhouses east of Main Street, and in the
Hotel. Tent cabins were erected to the east and north of the bunkhouses, in rows with their ridges
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running north-south. Single men working for City Light were assigned quarters in the tents
during the summer months; in the winter months, during non-tourist season, they were allowed to
live in the bunkhouses.

By 1933 the number of overnight tourists had grown to 250; by this time, they were housed in the
former Storrie and Company bunkhouse, in the Hotel, and three to a room in the bunkhouses. In
October of that year, sketch plans were made for eleven new bunkhouses to be erected on the sites of
the old construction camp bunkhouses on the east side of main street, to serve as dormitories for
tourists, and a new recreation hall south of them, on the riverbank, was also proposed. The
recreation hall appears to have been a substitute for Ross's unrealized chateau scheme; plans for
the building surfaced again in 1936, when the city asked for WPA funding assistance for a
$10,475.00 recreation hall--never received-- and again in 1937. In March of 1937 sketches of a low
rectangular recreation building in the Rustic style, with stone and shingled walls, board and
batten gable-ends, and recessed porches and terraces were prepared by City Light's chief architect,
George Stewart. The design was clearly related to housing under construction in the Hollywood
section of Diablo, which had been influenced by Forest Service architects. Later that year, there
was some debate regarding the proposed new hall's siting, with William McKeen and Glen Smith,
Ross's principal directors, favoring a site at the easternmost end of the town, diagonally across
from the Gorge Powerhouse, which would allow a view of the waterfalls and mountain.23 The new
recreation building was never built.

In November of 1934, Ross told his managers that a dormitory for single men was one of the "most
important in the building program,” probably because a number of single workers were being
lodged in tent cabins during the summer.24 Between the winters of 1933 and 1934, two additional
structures were built in Newhalem. These were bunkhouses, but smaller than those dating from
the construction camp period, and apparently not intended to house tourists.25 They were located
between Main Street and the first row of construction camp bunkhouses, and were similar, though
not identical, in appearance. One, now referred to as the "Pansy House," (Resource #13) was built
just east of the Commissary; the second, now referred to as the "Cook's Bunkhouse," (Resource
#14) was built east of the northerly projecting kitchen wing of the Mess Hall, and west of the older
construction camp Cook's Bunkhouse. Both buildings have steeply-pitched gable roofs with
exposed rafters, nine-light wood sash windows, shingled, shed-roofed dormers and shingled
gable ends. The walls were clad with lapped siding. The "Cook's Bunkhouse" was somewhat
smaller, with gable-roofed overdoors sheltering the entry doors centered on the longitudinal
elevations. The "Pansy House," about twelve feet longer, had entry doors on the west end and in
the center of the south elevation.

Ross also told his managers that arrangements needed to be made for housing at least five
hundred tourists. By July of 1935, there were four new tourist dormitories on the sites of the early
construction camp bunkhouses, west of the westernmost row of existing bunkhouses. Their
footprints were close or identical in size to the original bunkhouses, and their roof pitches were
similar, however, each had long shed-roofed dormers, creating eight second story rooms, and
doors in the gable ends leading to exterior wood stairs. One, Building #70 (Resource #17), had a
raised daylight basement facing south, due to its location on a slight slope. The buildings had
nine-light wood sash windows; lapped board siding, and principal entry doors centered on the
longitudinal elevations with gable-roofed and bracketed overdoors. With three beds to a room, the
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new dormitories could accommodate around fifty people each, or about two hundred more tourists
per tour. The remaining seven tourist dormitories shown on the 1933 scheme were never erected.
However, House #1 on Silk Stocking Row was converted into a six-person bunkhouse. Some time
between 1932 and 1938, a small building with a clipped gable roof was built directly west of the
Hotel; it served as a public restroom for the tourists, located near the railroad platforms (Resource
#21). In 1938 a small tourist bunkhouse, called Bunkhouse "D" was built to the west of the Main
Street office; it was to serve as a residence for important transient visitors. The building was
demolished in the 1970s.

Landscaping

In the fall of 1929 Ross received a large shipment of ornamental and evergreen trees and shrubs
from the city parks department, apparently in exchange for lighting schemes Ross prepared for the
city's golf course. These included over two dozen each barberries, spiraea and cotoneasters;
laburnum, pyracantha and viburnums; a wide variety of cypress, junipers and cedars; elms,
sycamores, mountain ash, willows, chestnuts, flowering cherries and maples. In 1930 the U.S.
Forest Service, in cooperation with Oregon State College (now Oregon State University) at
Corvallis, offered a variety of deciduous and coniferous shade trees to various forest supervisors
for planting at administrative sites. L.B. Pagter, forest supervisor for Mount Baker National
Forest, forwarded a suggestion for cedar trees from Oregon State for Ladder Creek or for the
construction camp at Diablo to Ross.

Continuous planting of trees and shrubs in Newhalem, at Ladder Creek Falls, and in Diablo
continued throughout Ross's tenure as Superintendent of Lighting. In 1935, Ed Kemoe, who
conducted the Skagit Tours, put out a department-wide memo requesting seeds from mountain ash,
cotoneaster, barberry and pyracantha bushes and trees for planting on the Skagit, specifying
"...Trees or bushes that have seeds for the birds, preferred."26 In the spring of that year, Ross
convinced Seattle nurserymen and florists to donate hundreds of flats of flowers and plants for the
Skagit.

By 1930 a small greenhouse had been built north of the Gorge power plant, in which tender plants
and flowers were grown. By 1936 two large nurseries had been established in Newhalem near the
car barn, in which five varieties of Asiatic chestnut trees--a total of almost 400 trees--from the U.S.
Department of Agriculture were growing in seven rows, apparently in some kind of reciprocal
arrangement Ross made with J.L. Bedwell of the Division of Forest Pathology of the U.S.D.A. in
Portland. The nurseries also contained butternuts, Lawson cypress, hybrid walnut trees,
barberries, juglans, and castanea tamba. However, landscaping on the Skagit generally
suffered after Ross's death and in the wake of the war. Eight years after he sent the trees, Bedwell
wrote for information on the survival, growth and nut production of the various species sent, and
was told by Ross's successor, E.R. Hoffman, that all had been planted in permanent locations, and
that some had survived and a few bore nuts. However, he reported, "..a good many...have failed to
survive," and, further, that the tags identifying the variety of each tree were unreadable. By 1939 a
third nursery had been built in the area behind the school house, in which flowering cherries, white
mulberry, apple and plum trees were grown.
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Ross received trees, plants, cuttings and seeds from all over the country; donated whenever he
could arrange it, and usually purchased from his personal funds when he couldn't. He worked
closely with the city's head gardener, who provided advice on where and how to plant the trees and
assistance in grafting. In 1937 a box of eighteen to twenty trees arrived at the Skagit from the
Roosevelt compound at Hyde Park, including oaks and elms--two of them--named Franklin and
Eleanor--were set out near the suspension bridge at the foot of Main Street, although apparently both
have since died. One story repeatedly recounted by long-time residents of Newhalem tells of Ross
frequently standing at the rear of the train from Rockport, tossing out wildflower seeds along the
railroad right of way, as the train traveled into town. Apocryphal or not, the story gains credence
from the lists of seeds--California poppies, asters, and coreopsis--he frequently ordered from such
outlets as Wayside Gardens in Ohio.

By 1935, Ross had had a grape arbor installed at the head of Main Street, in the approximate
location of the present main office. The arbor was a place where townspeople would meet, and a
focal point terminating the axis of Main Street from the suspension bridge at its south end. The
grapevines were started in the greenhouse west of the car barn. The arbor was removed when the
present office building was erected in 1954.

The landscape of Newhalem has been altered with the removal of buildings, boardwalks, and
railroad tracks, and the resodding of many areas. The greenhouses are gone, with the exception of
a more recently constructed greenhouse and cold frames near the site of the original greenhouse
north of the Gorge Powerhouse, where flowers and plants for the project are presently nurtured.
However, many of the trees grown and planted during the historic period are extant within the
town's boundaries. There is an allee” of trees along the former railroad right-of-way, both east
and west of Main Street, which are landscape features defining the historic route of the railroad.
There are also allee’s north of Silk Stocking Row and west of the Tourist Restroom (Visitor's
Center) which define the location of unpaved streets in Upper Camp; landscape patterns which are
historically associated with the development of the municipally-owned town of Newhalem,
although the streets they lined and the buildings they shaded have since been removed. In
addition, there are informal and formal plantings of trees, both exotic and native, along the
riverbank behind Silk Stocking Row, and east of the Commissary, which appear to date to the
historic period. No planting plans have been found to indicate the extent to which the landscape
was designed, or produced "ad-hoc,” and there is evidence to indicate that some trees have been
added and removed since the historic period. Nonetheless, the extant patterns are significant for
their association with the town of Newhalem and the railroad, and contribute to the understanding
of the the town's circulation and organization.

Poverty Row

In response to a critical housing shortage, in 1936 and '37 the Lighting Department began to

prepare plans for houses in both Newhalem and Diablo. In the spring of 1937 L.H. Rose, a Lighting
Department draftsman, prepared a sketch for nine new houses in Newhalem, which were to be
built under the supervision of the General Division supervisor, Dana Currier. These would be the
first family housing units to be erected in the town since the early 1920s. Initially, they were to be
located on lots left vacant after accreted destruction of some of the three-room cottages west of the
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school house. In May, it was decided to build seven on the school house ballground, west of Upper
Camp, and two in the vicinity of the three-room cottages. Ross, however, redirected the location of
five of the houses to a strip of land west of the Lower Camp cottages on the south side of the railroad
tracks. They were slated for construction in the 1938-39 budget. In December, 1938, Glen Smith,
one of Ross's two top assistants, based in Seattle, pointed out to Ross the small incremental
increase in costs if the original number of seven was to be built , and soon thereafter construction
for seven four and five room houses began. The buildings were aligned in a row facing the .
tracks. They were completed in May of 1939, two months after Ross's death. Two other houses,
using the same basic plan, were built in the fall of 1938. One was located north of Sixth Street, in
the Lower Camp area, and one was sited at the east end of Silk Stocking Row (Resource #9).

The row of houses west of Lower Camp came to be referred to as Poverty Row.27 Five years after
completion, although the newest houses in Newhalem, they were rated by the city as "Type 2"
houses: .

Their general condition is good; however, they do not meet the minimum

requirements of any family who might live in them. The design is poor,

laundry facilities are not adequate, there is not sufficient storage space, the

kitchen does not contain enough cupboards, there has been no consideration of

dining requirements and they need to be insulated.28

They received the Poverty Row appellation, according to one source, because the houses had no
furnishings and families spent "...more than they could afford" to make the structures habitable.
Poverty Row houses have been moved or demolished as City Light employees have vacated the
buildings. Several of these residences remain in the Skagit Valley, west of Newhalem.29

Ross Crypt (Resource #25)

North of Highway 20, on the east end of Newhalem, is a narrow, curving concrete path, lined with
native and non-native trees and plants, which leads to a crypt built into the native rock base of
Ross Mountain. The front of the crypt is recessed into a niche, protected by simple wrought-iron
gates. Mounted on the crypt are two brass plates which bear inscriptions regarding the occupants.
The crypt holds the remains of James Delmage Ross, Superintendent of Lighting for the City of
Seattle between 1911 and 1939, and his wife, Alice. Ross's cremated remains were interred in the
crypt some time prior to 1940. After her death in April, 1956, Alice's remains were also placed
there. :

The 1940s and Later

Because of the war, and the project's security designation as a vital wartime industry, the Skagit
Project area was closed to tourists in 1941. A security fence was installed along the western
boundary, and two gates erected. In the early 1940s the tourist dormitories were subdivided into
apartments to house Skagit workers; by 1943, ten such apartments had been created in the old
Storrie and Company bunkhouse, in the four 1935 dormitories, and the bunkhouse now referred to
as the "Pansy House." In the dormitories, the first floors were divided in half, and former bunk



NP8 Form 10-000-a OMB Approvel No. 10240018
(826

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

\lational Register of Historic Places
<ontinuation Sheet

Section number Page B

rooms in each half were converted to a kitchen with a sink and some cupboards, and a dining
room. The sole bathrooms on the first floor were shared by the families occupying each apartment.
During the war, around thirty Italian prisoners-of-war, employed in construction of Ruby--now
Ross--Dam, were housed in bunkhouses in Newhalem. :

After the war ended, six inexpensively built apartment houses were erected at the southeast end of
Newhalem; laundry and shower facilities were shared by occupants of apartments on each floor.
The apartments were used throughout their fifteen year existence to house some construction
workers from various companies working on Ross Dam, and later the extension to Gorge
Powerhouse and the new concrete Gorge dam, and City Light workers. The apartments were built
on the tailings from the construction of the Gorge Powerhouse tunnel, in the general location of the
present day machine shop. The rocky tailings gave the housing area its name, Rock Hill. The
buildings were torn down in 1960.

In 1948 six new wood frame houses were added to the west end of Poverty Row; these gable-roofed
buildings, somewhat more substantial than their neighbors to the east, were called Engineer's
Row. Most housed powerhouse engineers and their families. Most of these structures were sold
and moved or demolished in the late 1970s and early 1980s.

When preliminary surveys and drilling for Gorge High Dam began in 1952 and 1953, a
construction camp for the contractors was built just east of Goodell Creek, north of the present state
highway. The camp included bunkhouses, a mess hall, several small cottages and a construction
camp commissary, garages and a gas station. A Whirley Crane was located north of most of the
construction camp buildings, for unloading heavy material. A trailer court was established west
of Engineer's Row for additional crew housing. The buildings and structures associated with this
camp were removed in the 1970s. In 1954 the Gorge High Dam engineer's field office was built at
the head of Main Street, where the grape arbor stood. Today the building serves as the Main Office
for the entire Skagit Project. A road for hauling equipment to the Gorge High Dam was built along
the base of the cliffs, between the camp and the Gorge Powerhouse bridge.

In 1946 the City Council finally approved funds to construct a school teacher's house in Newhalem;
for years the school teacher had lived in various apartments throughout the town, including one
carved out of one of the Silk Stocking Row houses. The hip-roofed duplex could house two teachers;
it was located on the east edge of the school field. In 1950 a quonset hut was erected southwest of the
Newhalem School to serve as an indoor gymnasium. In 1955 a second room was added to the
original school building, with a new entry room connecting the two. That year City Light provided
materials, Skagit engineers provided the plans, and over one hundred men from Diablo,
Newhalem and the contractor's camp provided the labor to prepare and install the Newhalem
ballfield, northeast of the school, complete with grandstand, backstop, lights and drinking
fountain.

For years the railroad was the principal means of access to Newhalem from Rockport and points
west. By the end of the 1930s, a passable U.S. Forest Service road from Marblemount provided
access for bolder drivers, but most Newhalem occupants still used the railroad for the journey in
and out of the Project. After the war, an improved twenty-three mile state highway allowed greater
access to the site, and employees began to bring their private cars to Newhalem. In 1939 the first
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garages for residential use were built on the west side of Second Street (Resource #10), the site of
several three-room cottages that had been demolished. The garages had shed roofs and were clad
with corrugated iron. In the 1940s additional garages were built on the north side of the road.
Today all the garages are used for material storage.

Because the new high dam would flood the railroad track between Gorge Creek and Diablo, and
relocation of the tracks was deemed both expensive and unnecessary, then Superintendent
Hoffman announced, in May of 1953, that City Light would terminate operation of the railroad in
the spring of 1954. In April of 1954 contractors began removing the tracks, after a last Skagit Tour
by railroad, held April 3 for the Northwest Resources Group of the Seattle Public Schools.30 The
tracks, long a principal functional and spatial element in the town, were gone by 1955; the present’
state road follows much the same alignment as the old right-of-way east of Goodell Creek.
Between 1954 and 1957, a road was blasted into the hillside well above the railroad right-of-way
between Newhalem and Diablo. The single-lane road required three tunnels and a new bridge to
span Gorge Creek. In 1962 the road was widened to two lanes, and a little over a decade later one of
the three tunnels was removed entirely.

Between 1960 and 1962 work began on the Skagit Service Center at the southeast end of camp. The
Rock Hill apartments were demolished, and a new machine shop, garage, paint shop and paved
yard were built to house support functions for the hydroelectric project and both towns.

The Main Street area of Newhalem experienced some changes after the war. In 1957 both the Big
and Little Halls were demolished and replaced with a new theater-meeting hall structure on the
southwesterly corner of Main Street, named Currier Hall. The office building, which had served
over the years as the post office and later as a first aid station operated by nurses living in town,
served as an engineers' office in the early 1950s, until the new engineer's office was built at the
head of Main Street. Following that, the Women of the Episcopal Church Mission were allowed to
use the building to sell Skagit souvenirs to tourists driving through Newhalem. It was demolished
in the 1970s. The long warehouse at the north end of the street, which had served as the central
warehouse for thousands of items, and as an office for Currier and the railroad dispatchers, had
outlived its usefulness: with the removal of the railroad in 1954, it was no longer a viable facility,
and had suffered from lack of maintenance. It was demolished in 1967-68, after completion of the
new service center. Other functional buildings in the vicinity of Main Street, north of the tracks,
such as the carpenter's shop and paint shop, had been removed several years earlier.

As City Light began planning to automate the hydroelectric project, it became evident that less
personnel would be needed to operate the facilities, and further, that fewer employees would have to
be housed at the project. Fewer employees would require maintenance on less houses. Initially,
Seattle-based City Light planners proposed that all existing housing be demolished, and new, low-
maintenance quadraplexes built. Skagit-based personnel objected. In 1961 eleven new wood
single-family frame houses with low-pitched gable roofs were built along the river in a semi-
circular loop around the school grounds. The street was lined with flowering cherry trees, and a
sidewalk and curbs were installed. One quadraplex was built in 1963, near the east end of the
circular road, and three additional residences were built on the loop in 1965.
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Fifteen Upper Camp three-room cottages along First and Second Streets remained in use until the
early 1970s, when ten were demolished; five survived until the late 1970s, when they, too, were
finally removed. The vacant lots and the streets themselves were replanted in lawn. Today there
are three structures along the First Street alignment: the 1939 garages, and a small gable-roofed
garage built in the 1950s to house the volunteer fire department's fire truck. While the construction
camp era cottages are gone, the spatial organization and circulation patterns of Upper Camp are
still evident in the alignment--along the vanished streets--of the many varieties of trees, many of
them planted in the 1930s to beautify the town and "make it livable."

In the 1960s, all the remaining construction camp era bunkhouses, with the exception of the

original Cook's Bunkhouse (Resource #16) were demolished, one by one, along with their
washhouses. Their sites were seeded with lawn. By 1979, three of the four tourist dormitories east
of Main Street--the exception was Building #70 (Resource #17)--and the 1938 Tourist Bunkhouse
"D," west of the old office building, had suffered the same fate. The old Storrie and Company
Office-Bunkhouse on the north side of the road was also demolished. The last three remaining
three-story cottages in Lower Camp were leveled in the mid 1970s, and a picnic area installed. The
Frank Young Park, named for a long-time City Light employee, complete with tennis courts, was
dedicated on the Lower Camp site in July of 1989.

Ladder Creek Falls Gardens (Resource #30)

Ladder Creek is a glacier-fed stream originating on Snowfield Peak. It spills down the granite
cliffs in a series of waterfalls, several of which cascade in sheer drops several hundred feet above
and to the east of Gorge Powerhouse. The stream debouches into the Skagit River just south of the
pedestrian suspension bridge (Structure #31) leading to the powerhouse. The creek drops
approximately 3,000 feet during its six mile run to the Skagit.

The Ladder Creek Falls gardens occupy approximately two acres of land adjacent to the
powerhouse, to the east and southeast. The terrain of the gardens is steep, rising to a comparatively
flat area about eighty feet above the powerhouse. Its heavily wooded slopes of old and new growth
timber are periodically interrupted by granitic outcroppings. A series of paths wind up the slopes
behind the powerhouse, leading to the garden's highest point, a concrete staircase from which the
lower falls can be viewed, spilling down granite-faced walls less than sixty feet away. The paths,
most of which are historic, have a variety of surfaces; there are several rustic wood bridges
crossing streams which run through the gardens. Paths in the lower area of the gardens, once
referred to as the rock gardens, have granite steps; some steps of concrete appear to be later
additions. Several rest areas adjacent to the paths have benches: three of these, made of rustic
wood logs, appear to date to the historic period. Periodically along the paths, streams have been
diverted to form small waterfalls spilling into granite-lined and concrete pools. -

There are a variety of native trees within the gardens, including fir, cedar, hemlock, spruce,
dogwood, vine maple, alder and birch. Non-native trees, some dating to the historic period,
include Japanese maple, Colorado blue spruce, hawthorne and holly. Native shrubs are planted
along paths and appear in natural groupings beyond the paths: these include rhododendron,
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azaleas, salal and Oregon grape. There are some remnants of historic exotic plant material
introduced by J.D. Ross, including a species of bamboo. The lowest area of the gardens, near the
west side of the powerhouse, have been planted with annual flowers and maidenhair and sword
ferns: at present, it is not clear how true to the historic period the annual bedding plants are.

Today the gardens may be reached by three different paths: by stone stairs located near the
northeast end of the powerhouse; by an asphalt path leading past a non-historic "iris pool” on the
south end of the powerhouse, and from a concrete platform projecting from the center of the east side
of the powerhouse, on axis with the visitors gallery at the second level within the powerhouse. The
falls and some parts of the garden are illuminated at night, in keeping with the spirit of the
original concept of the gardens, although it is not clear how closely the present lighting scheme
reflects the historic design. An on-going study by Seattle City Light, in association with its
Recreation Plan for relicensing of the Skagit Hydroelectric Project, is assessing the resource for
restoration.

The lower falls' proximity to the powerhouse provided City Light's superintendent J.D. Ross with
an opportunity to create a unique mountain arboretum, employing two of his principal
enthusiasms, horticulture and artistic illumination. By 1924 he was conducting visitors up the
paths behind the powerhouse to view the falls, and by 1928 he had turned his attention to the

- installation of gardens on the cliffs. In January of 1929 he wrote of his plans to surpass the
illuminated shows he had created in Seattle, stating "I expect to produce something at Skagit in the
coming summer that will eclipse anything else we have done in illumination..."31 In May he
asked L.B. Pagter for a way for the city to gain control of the lower portion of Ladder Creek,
explaining that he wished to protect the falls vegetation, where increased use due to City Light
tours--numbering at that time around 150 people per week--was threatening such fragile plants as
orchids. He also indicated he wished to install a special illumination system along the canyon:
"...we could make it a wonderful sight, but we would have no control of the public who might go
there."32 In June the Forest Service granted the city permission to use two acres around Ladder
Creek as a park, authorized construction of trails and bridges to make "...the natural beauty
easily accessible,” and granted permission to light the area from the Gorge Powerhouse. By early
July Ross had installed six lamps in the canyon to light the falls, and had directed Theodore Kane
and Dana Currier to submit plans for bridges and other permanent developments to him for
consultation with the U.S. Forest Service before installation. By the end of September, he had
added six additional lamps illuminating the falls and trees along the canyon paths, which, he
reported to Umlauff, "...many have said...is the most beautiful thing they ever saw, without any
exception."33

While no documentation has been found regarding when Ross first began to plant trees and other
vegetationin the Ladder Creek falls area, it is almost certain he appropriated at least part of the
shipment from the city parks department to the Skagit in 1929 for use at Ladder Creek; his
correspondence with the city gardener, Jake Umlauff, is full of references to Ladder Creek.

By the 1930 tourist season, thousands of tourists were visiting the Skagit, taking night tours of
Ladder Creek Falls, illuminated "...in all the varying colors of the rainbow, a spectacle never to
be forgotten."34 By 1933 Ross had established rock gardens behind the powerhouse, at the base of the
trail to the falls, and although he had begun to collect and display exotic plants, the emphasis in
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tourist literature that year was still on native plants and flowers along the trail. Tourists were
cautioned not to pick the flowers, however, brochures noted the lighting department would help
secure plants from other locations for people who wished to have their own live transplanted Skagit
souvenir.35

In 1933 or 1934 Ross had city crews install a sound system in the Ladder Creek area, operated out of
the Gravity Oil Tank House behind the powerhouse (Resource #29). Members of the power plant's
operating crew were assigned to sit in the structure and play recordings following a pre-arranged
schedule which coincided with an evening walk up to the falls through the rock gardens. The
earliest records played were primarily organ recordings of such songs as Dawn of Tomorrow,
Meadow Lark, Diane, and When the Organ Played at Twilight, interspersed with some vocals,
including tenor John McCormack's I Hear You Calling Me, and the Gypsy Love Song. By 1934 the
ascent began with recorded bird calls--canaries and a record called Dawn in the Old World
Garden, which was a recording of native birds. When the falls were reached, The Holy City
boomed from a hidden speaker, which, one observer noted, "You may expect to find it all faintly
distasteful, but you will, on the contrary, fall into the spell and want with all your heart to join in
that song which so perfectly suits this setting."36

In 1935 Umlauff sent Seattle landscape architect E. Soderquist to Ross with an introduction noting
that Soderquist "...has a very wide knowledge of plants and is expert in rock work." It is not clear
whether Ross hired Soderquist to work on the Ladder Creek rock gardens, but it was in this year
that Ross began to step up the introduction of exotic plants at the base of the falls and to tout that area
of Ladder Creek as a tropical jungle. One variety of palm had been brought to the Skagit in 1934,
and had survived the winter there; several other varieties were added the following year.37 Ross
continued to experiment with lighting arrangements at the falls, and in 1936 his managers
reported to him that the falls had been lit without any white hghts apparently a goal of Ross's for
some years.

In 1936, a newspaper columnist described the appearance of the "tropical juhgle" during the
daytime visit:

I was all prepared to complain at the tropical plantings up here when there was so
rare an opportunity to mass our native shrubs and flowers and show them off as
they still wait to be shown off. But I came off my high horse when I saw how
skillfully this versatile genius, Ross, has combined the exotic with the native
plants. Goats beard, elderberry, wild columbine, buttercups and wild iris look
fully as exotic as the tropical plants whose names I do not know! Indeed, I think a
stranger would be hard put to it to say which are tropical and which native.38

The evening walk attracted the most attention. A 1938 tourist described it:

...we were directed up the hillside along paths to the illuminated ladder
falls. It was completely dark out except for small stars which couldn't have
been brighter shining down through openings in those tall, spreading trees.
Up in the branches it was quiet and mysteriously dark while down below,
the path wound up and around a veritable fairyland. Small rocks and
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waterfalls had colored glows about them and under bridges rushed colored
torents [sic]. Leaving the paths, we climbed the stairs above the tropical
gardens. Up and up toward the singing ahead of us. At last we reached the
top and looked over the side. It was breathtaking. With cool spray on our
faces we looked down on the unforgetable [sic] wonder of the illuminated
falls. They rushed down through huge boulders and down 4,000 feet over a
series of drops in a swirl of rainbow colors. It ran down under the bridge
where the color flowed into a deep blue and on into the darkness of the
mountains.39

When the tours ceased in 1941, Ladder Creek Falls garden maintenance went into decline. The
falls illumination succumbed to blackout conditions imposed by the war. When tours resumed in
1953, the city began to refurbish the gardens. Many of the exotic species had failed without special
care; they were replaced with hardier plants. Today the gardens contain over 150 species of
flowers and plants. In 1962 City Light attempted to recreate the spirit of the illuminated evening
walks, relying on surviving historic lighting diagrams and pieces of damaged colored glass
from lamps and equipment found in the gardens. The falls have, since that time, been
illuminated with colored lights in the evening, and foliage and pools along the paths have been
relit with ground-based illumination.

Diablo Hydroelectric Power Plant

Although initially intended to be the last of the three Skagit plants, the Diablo Power Plant was
built following Gorge. By 1925 Ross was reporting: "The most economical unit and the one most
easily constructed at this time is made up of a dam at Diablo Canyon, creating a reservoir to supply
54,000 H.P. addition at the present power house."40 Despite some opposition to Diablo on the Seattle
City Council, led by Oliver T. Erickson, who believed the city should erect a concrete buttress dam
at what was called the Hanging Rock location to replace the Gorge crib dam, and then cease
development of the Skagit, construction on an extension of the railroad to Diablo began in 1926.

In the spring of 1927 the design contract for the dam was let to the Constant Angle Arch Dam
Company, a consulting firm whose principal was Lars Jorgensen, and in September of 1927, a
contract for construction of the dam (Resource #42) was let to Winston Brothers of Minneapolis.
The constant-angle arch was eminently suitable for Diablo Canyon, which rose to 200 feet above
the river: it used significantly less materials than an arch dam, and even less than the massive
gravity dams; its structure was especially applicable to narrow canyons, and the savings in
materials saved both direct costs, and the costs of transportation into remote sites. At the time of its
construction, it was, at 389 feet, the tallest thin arch dam in the world.

The Skagit River Railroad was extended up the canyon from Newhalem, and electrified to assist
in moving cars laden with construction materials. At Reflector Bar, six miles from Newhalem,
the line connected with a funicular railroad--the Incline (Resource #37)--which lifted the rail cars
up a 68 percent grade for almost 600 feet, where they connected to tracks leading to the dam site. On
August 27, 1930, the dam was complete and a dedication ceremony was held. The 1,170 foot-long
dam --the arch is 540 feet long, and the gravity abutments total 630 feet in length--has a 16 foot wide
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crest, and a base thickness of 140 feet. There are 19 taintor spill gates, three of which were
motorized in the mid-1960s; the remainder are lifted with a rail-mounted hydraulic hoist. A valve
house is located at the 1,045 foot elevation on the downstream side of the dam, and is reached via an
elevator or ladder. There is one Larner-Johnson valve and three butterfly valves, all provided by
the Pelton Water Wheel Company.

Construction of the Diablo Powerhouse (Resource #35) was halted in 1930: its foundations, as well
as the penstocks, surge tank and power tunnel had been built as part of the dam project, and
generators and other equipment had been ordered. However, the bond market had dried up in the
wake of the 1929 stock market crash, and the city was unable to sell its bonds, although it tried in
both 1932 and 1933. Ross applied to obtain 7.5 million dollars in loans from the Reconstruction
Finance Corporation, which was denied, but countered with an offer of purchasing 1.6 million
dollars of city bonds if the city would clear outstanding warrents from its construction fund; when
this offer was made, in December of 1930, the city had over 1.8 million dollars in outstanding
warrants, and was unable to meet the conditions of the loan. By 1933 the federal government was
engaged in building two other major dams in the state: Grand Coulee and Bonneville, and it was
the general federal sentiment that Washington state was already receiving a generous share of
public money. It wasn't until 1934 that the city was able to find purchasers for 4.9 million dollars
in bonds to complete the powerhouse. It was built by Rumsey and Company of Seattle.

The powerhouse, with a Moderne exterior, is representative of the type of architecture applied to
industrial buildings of this period. The interior lobby features terrazzo floors, a brass water
fountain, wrought-iron staircase railing with aluminum top rails, and a unique tiled goldfish
pond with City Light's logo, in tile, incorporated into the design. These were all installed in
anticipation of public viewing: the powerhouse was a showcase for the city's hydroelectric project,
and a promotional tool for completion of the final power plant, Ruby (re-named Ross, after his
death). The generators were installed on pedestals on a single floor, accessible from the lobby,
rather than dropping between two floors, making them a prominent visual feature. They are the
largest, and possibly the last generators ever installed in this manner, a good example of
technology in transition.41

The equipment used in the powerhouse was state of the art, when delivered. The generators were
the highest rated in the country for the time, with ratings of 66,700 kva. An enormous overhead
power crane--reputedly the largest ever built to that time-was installed in the powerhouse to move
the large generators and turbines. It had two crabs, each with a main hoist capacity of 150 tons, and
an auxiliary hoist capable of lifting 25 tons. The powerhouse was dedicated on September 23, 1936.
For further information on the Diablo Power Plant, refer to the National Register of Historic
Places Multiple Property Documentation Form, Hydroelectric Power Plants in Washington State,
1890-1938, prepared by Lisa Soderberg, and approved by the National Register on December 15,
1988. Please note that errors or inconsistencies in that nomination have been corrected in this
present nomination.
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Diablo

The town of Diablo is 7 1/2 miles upstream from Newhalem, located just above the confluence of
Stetattle Creek with the Skagit River, where the river makes a sweeping horseshoe bend. The
present town has three distinct areas, defined by the river, creek and cliffs. The area furthest
upstream, situated on a gravel bar created by the river's bend, is Reflector Bar, encompassing
approximately 20 acres. A narrow strip of land between the cliffs and the river, on which Diablo
Powerhouse is located, connects Reflector Bar to Hollywood (downstream) which is on a relatively
flat peninsula formed by juncture of Stetattle Creek and the river.

By the spring of 1927, the design contract for the Diablo Dam had been awarded to the Constant
Angle Arch Dam Company, and by fall the Federal Power Commission had approved its design
and the construction contract had been awarded to Winston Brothers of Minneapolis.

Towards the end of 1926, construction had begun on an extension of the railroad line from
Newhalem, six miles upriver to its future terminus at Reflector Bar, below the dam site. By early
March, 1927, the railroad grade had been completed to two miles upstream from the Gorge intake
on the south side of the river. It was here that the first railroad bridge crossing the Skagit was built,
in April.42 The railroad line had a steep grade, following the rise in elevation up the gorge,
crossing the river several times, and hugging the walls of the canyon on roadbeds blasted out of the
granite cliffs. To handle the grade and heavy construction material loads, the line was
electrified, but a steam locomotive, "Old Number Six," purchased by the Lighting Department in
1928, was also used to negotiate the grade and haul equipment, materials and tourists to the dam
site (Resource #19).

When the railroad line reached the north edge of Reflector Bar, in the early spring of 1928, it split
into several spurs. The main line, with two side tracks, continued south, near the base of the cliffs.
A spur branched to the east, running parallel to the main line, rising along the base of the cliff.
This easterly spur split in two, with one line serving as a storage track, and a second spur
continuing across a trestle to the base of the Incline railroad, and then dropping back down to the
grade of the main line along another trestle. The Incline (Resource #37), completed in March of
1928, was designed to haul loaded freight cars up a 68 percent grade. A second spur off the main
line branched to the west as the line entered Reflector Bar, servicing a gravel plant on the
northwest edge of the Bar. A coal bunker was built at the end of the gravel plant spur.

Reflector Bar

Reflector Bar was the site of a U.S. Forest Service ranger station, and included a cabin and barn
and three large, fenced pastures, when the City began surveying at the Diablo Dam site. Initially
the City had applied to the Forest Service for permission to occupy only a portion of the Bar, but by
September of 1927, Winston Brothers had notified the City that the buildings necessary to house and
service the construction crews would require the entire area of the Bar, including the ranger
station. Construction on bunkhouses, cabins and a mess hall began that month, northwest of the
ranger enclosure, while the City negotiated with the Forest Service for occupancy of the entire Bar,



NPS Form 10-000-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-08)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
sontinuation Sheet

Section number .__7._ Page L

and including the area down river as far as the Davis Ranch boundary, West of Stetattle Creek.
On October 25 the U.S.F.S. granted the City permission to occupy the entire area.43

By May of 1928 the area of the Bar, which had been cleared by the U.S.F.S. for their station, was
covered with wood-framed buildings, most of which were built by Winston Brothers, existing in
uneasy proximity to the Forest Service house and barn, which were hemmed in on all sides by
construction camp buildings.

The camp was laid out in a U-shaped pattern, with the open end of the U facing east, towards the
cliffs, rail line and Incline. Each leg of the U consisted of several long, low gable-roofed latrines,
with their ridges running on an east-west axis. These were flanked on both sides by a row of six
small cottages housing construction camp workers. The base of the U, closest to the river, was
formed by three latrine buildings, with ridges running north-south, flanked on the east by twelve
cottages and on the west by eleven cottages. The southernmost cottage in the westerly row served as

" a hospital. A double T-shaped, cross-gable roofed structure, the largest in camp, was located in the
center of the U: it served as the camp mess hall.

Across the top of the U, running parallel to the railroad line, were three long gable-roofed
buildings, with their ridges running north-south. They were, from north to south, a commissary,
the camp's construction office, and a hotel for visiting engineers, functionaries and overflow
workmen.

The Forest Service buildings were flanked on the south by the innermost row of the cottages on the
south leg, and on the east by the mess hall; the pasture fences were still partially in place, but no
longer complete enough to house pack animals.

Sandwiched between the main railroad line and the storage track, at the base of the cliff, were a
gable-roofed warehouse for camp materials and supplies, located just east of the commissary, and
a steeply-pitched, gable-roofed building, erected by the City, which served as a substation for the
electrified line. A transformer yard was located just north of the substation.

The City also built three steeply-pitched gable-roofed bunkhouses to the south of the U, running in a
row perpendicular to the main rail line. Each bunkhouse sheltered ten men. One bunkhouse stood
alone; the other two were connected by breezeways to a smaller gable-roofed wash house located
between them. These structures were referred to as the Engineer's Camp. They, and the substation
building were larger and better built than the construction camp buildings, with shingled roofs
and finished siding; all four city buildings were whitewashed, contrasting sharply with the
vertical board-sided construction camp buildings, which had Malthoid roofs secured by battens.

In the summer of 1928, as a result of an agreement between the U.S.F.S. and the City, the
contractors erected a new house and barn for the Forest Service, west of Engineer's Camp and
south of the construction camp. The area selected was full of scrub and logging debris, unlike the
cleared area formerly occupied by the U.S.F.S. buildings. This became a minor point of
contention, beginning in May of 1928 with one Forest Service representative agitating for a larger
barn, in exchange for the removal of the buildings to a less desirable site, and continuing through
April of 1930, when L.B. Pagter, the Mount Baker Forest supervisor, wrote the Seattle city engineer:
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"In our old location the ground was clear of old logs and debris, but in the new location there is
quite a lot of old logs and the like which should be cleaned up, as it is more or less a fire menace,
and not at all attractive to the setting. It is my opinion that the City should clean up this debris,
especially as the old location was free of the same."44

Also in the summer of 1928, the City began to build a series of larger cottages on the south and west
edges of the Bar, located within a still relatively heavily forested site. These four-room buildings,
better built than any others in Reflector Bar, and including indoor plumbing, were Diablo's much-
scaled down equivalent of Silk Stocking Row in Newhalem. They were designed for top
managers of the Diablo project, and, after their completion, would house the City's operating
engineers and other managerial staff. They were referred to as the City Engineers and
Contractors Residences. Unlike Silk Stocking Row, the building sites had no formal
organization. In plan they were organized in rows, ringing the south and west sides of the new
Forest Service pasture. When viewed three-dimensionally, it could be seen that they were
generally placed where cleared spots occurred near the river's edge, adjusting to some extent to the
changes in topography and the ragged configuration of the Bar. Most had gabled roofs with shed-
roofed porches on both front and rear elevations, double-hung windows and finished siding.
There were a total of six located along the south end of the Bar, overlooking the river, and four
along the west edge of the Bar. They were built entirely of two-by-four materials, with studs,
rafters and joists all on twenty-four inch centers, and plasterboard partitions.

In 1929 Reflector Bar looked like a rough construction camp, enclosed on two sides by rail lines
and filled with rude shacks. The principal circulation paths, other than the railroad lines, were a
twenty-foot wide road which ran along the interior of the U, and an equally wide dirt road which
ran at the base of the U, extending south to the ranger station and north to the gravel plant.
Secondary dirt paths ran between buildings in the legs and base of the U, with diagonal paths
leading to the centrally-located mess hall. With the exception of the perimeter of the Bar, and the
engineer and contractor residential areas, almost all native trees and vegetation had been _
removed. The one built amenity in camp was a tennis court which was located at the southeast end
of the Bar, next to the terminus of the railroad.

In March, 1932, two years after completion of the dam, the City had many of the construction camp
buildings razed; unlike Newhalem, an on-going need for housing, however primitive, was not
envisioned at the time. In fact, J.D. Ross was already beginning to consider alternative uses for
the site, unmistakably oriented towards his vision of the Skagit as a resort. But first, it was
necessary to finish the Diablo plant, which meant completion of the powerhouse, long on hold due
to lack of funding. The city retained the southernmost leg of the U, the hospital shed, all ancillary
buildings--such as the commissary, contractor's office, mess hall, hotel and warehouse--and one
latrine from the north leg of the U. All other residential structures and latrines were demolished.

In September of 1932, anticipating funding from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation (RFC)
for completion of the powerhouse, the City moved an immense power crane, built by the
Harnischfeger Corporation, onto Reflector Bar, temporarily locating it in the northwest corner of
the Bar. The 300-ton crane had two crabs, each capable of hoisting 150 tons, and an auxiliary hoist
with a 25 ton capacity. The crane was purchased to move the two massive Westinghouse
generators and other heavy equipment the City had already purchased for the Diablo Powerhouse.
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Surrounding the crane and a derrick located next to it, the City erected four shed-roofed
warehouses in a semi-circle, designed to store the equipment until completion of the powerhouse.
At that time the building's foundations, the power tunnel, the surge tank and penstocks were all
that had been completed when the money ran out. The RFC offered an unacceptable counter-
proposal to the city's request for a loan in December, and it wasn't until the summer of 1935 that the
installation of the equipment stored in these temporary sheds began.

When the city was finally able to sell bonds in 1934 to complete the Diablo plant, a new construction
crew, this time belonging to Rumsey and Company, moved into Reflector Bar to finish the
powerhouse, the tailrace, assemble the powerhouse machinery, install the equipment necessary to
bring the plant on line, and build a transmission line to connect with the Gorge line six miles
down river. With many of the earlier housing units destroyed, Rumsey and Company was forced
to lodge some of their men in tent cabins clustered around the surviving latrine building on the
former northerly leg of the U. The contractor’s office near the railroad line was converted to two
apartments.

In 1934 the tracks to the crane and gravel plant were relocated; the spur which branched west, along
the northerly end of the Bar was moved towards the center of camp, just north of the mess hall
building, where it branched to the south to pick up the side tracks, and to the north, joining the main
line past the powerhouse. The spur's relocation led to the demolition of the original commissary
building. The mess hall was converted into a commissary, a carpenter's shop, a store room and a
recreational hall, reserved for City employees. The mess hall was moved into the former hotel
building. Also in 1934, Diablo's water system was improved and a water tower (Resource #40) was
erected west of the City's "Engineer's Camp” buildings, serviced by a water pipe line located on a
suspension bridge at the southwest corner of the Bar, which drew water from a creek on the south
side of the Skagit. The tower remains in service today. In 1935, two additional four-room houses
were added to the Contractors' and Engineers' Residences on the edge of the Bar.

Unrealized Diablo

In March of 1934 Ross had his drafting department prepare plans for two structures in Diablo,
neither of which were built.45 They were part of his vision of the Skagit as a resort and tourist
center. Surviving drawings--there are also two plans for Diablo--demonstrate that Ross always
intended Diablo to serve principally as another highlight for tourists on their trip up the Skagit.

One 1934 design was for a visitor's restroom. Its exact location is unknown, however it appears to
have been planned for the trail between the top of the Incline and Diablo Dam. The second building
was a gatekeeper's house at Diablo; again its location is unknown, but it, too, was probably sited
near the dam. Both structures reflected Ross's continuing interest in rustic architecture, and the
influence of National Park and U.S. Forest Service designs on his vision for the Skagit.

The visitor's restroom was a concrete structure partially set into the cliff. The building had a low-
pitched gable roof, hidden by a parapet. Faced with uncoursed cyclopean stone, the structure would
appear, from a distance, to be rubble left from a rock slide. The gatekeeper's house had steeply-
pitched cross-gable roofs. The entry porch was arched, and an exterior brick chimney rose along
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one wall. It was sheathed entirély with wood shingles. Atypically, it was Ross himself who signed
the plans as having been checked.

By 1934 the tour attendance was growing rapidly. The following year, additional tourist
dormitories were built in Newhalem, and Ladder Creek's tropical garden installation was well
underway. Also, Ross had begun to assemble his "zoo," with its Mexican black squirrels, swans,
parakeets, and other exotic animals not native to the Pacific Northwest. The real zoo--which
actually existed in Diablo--was located on the Bar, west of the construction camp mess hall, and
was built in 1934 or 1935. It consisted of an enclosure for native deer and a white deer Ross had
imported; a large wire-enclosed aviary, and two small buildings--one gable-roofed and one shed-
roofed--for the care and treatment of the animals. The zoo lasted until Ross's death, and the
advent of World War II, when it was demolished and some of the surviving animals were sent to
the Seattle Zoo.

But the existing zoo was clearly, in Ross' mind, a stop-gap measure, for in 1935, a schematic plan
for the future development of Reflector Bar had been prepared under his direction. In this plan,
tourists would disembark at a waiting station directly below the Incline, and would either wend
their way up stairs or ramps, past a pool to the Incline car, or would cross the railroad tracks and
head west, down a wide street, at the end of which was a game reserve with enclosures for deer and
whatever else Ross planned to purchase, borrow or receive as a gift. Gardens were to be located
beyond the game reserve, and a path down to the Skagit. To the south of this street, just after
crossing the tracks, the tourists could enter a U-shaped community lodge, which held a store,
dining room, and mens' and women's dormitory rooms, which looked out onto a central court.
East of the game reserve, flanking the east-west road, would be a tennis court and a thirty-man
dormitory, presumably for City Light employees. The plan also included a field house, apparently
the hub of public sports activities, and a thirty by eighty foot swimming pool. Approximately two-
thirds of the Bar's entire area was devoted to these tourist structures. The remaining southerly
third was to be retained for housing employees and accommodating the U.S.F.S., which was
allowed to retain its barn, house and enclosure. Seven additional residences were to be built in the
Engineers’ and Contractors' Residences on the south and west edges of the Bar, and a new
warehouse would be erected south of the new waiting room.

This plan was not specious, drawn on the spur of the moment to satisfy Ross. It --or a variation of
it--was discussed with the U.S.F.S. in late 1937, where it was understood that a large part of the Bar
would change "...into a combination park and zoological gardens.” However, it was decided to
lodge a portion of the Ruby (Ross) Dam construction crew at Diablo early in 1938, and Diablo was
destined to continue as a combination construction camp and employee town for years to come.46

Of this scheme, only four buildings were to be realized. Three additional houses were built in the
westerly row of the Engineers’ and Contractors’ Residences, and the Incline Waiting Station was
erected in the summer of 1935 (Resource #36).

The Incline Waiting Station was strictly a tourist structure, designed for visitors who, after
spending the night in Newhalem, would reboard the train for a trip up the gorge to Diablo. They
would first visit the Diablo Powerhouse, and then the zoo. They would then meet at the Incline
station, visit the restrooms within it, if necessary, and board an open freight car for the trip up the
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Incline, one of the highlights of the tour. They would disembark and walk along the trail to Diablo
Dam, and, following that, board a boat--for years, the Alice Ross--for a trip up Diablo Lake to the
site of Ruby--later Ross--Dam. As with Ladder Creek Falls, Ross had wired a portion of the edge of
the lake for sound, and as the boat headed towards Ruby, visitors would hear the sounds of the
Indian Love Call and other inspirational music echoing across the water.

In 1939, shortly before Ross' death, Glen Smith prepared a sketch map of yet another plan for
Reflector Bar. This scheme, more elaborate than the 1935 plan, indicates Ross was considering the
time when Ruby Dam would be completed, and Diablo left free of construction camp restraints. In
this plan the Incline Waiting Room, barely four years old, was eliminated, replaced by a rock
garden which was flanked by two rest rooms. The "lodge,” now the "hotel,” was moved further
south, and reoriented, so that its principal elevation faced the track. The game reserve had become
a swan pen, surrounded by marsh and "wild gardens." All engineers' and contractors' houses
were to be removed, and the area planted in "wild garden.” The south end of the Bar would serve
as a deer park, with the exception of the existing tennis courts, which were to be retained. The
U.S.F.S. enclosure was allowed to stand where it was. Other features included a large bowling
green or croquet field, which the plan noted, could be converted to a skating rink in the winter;
vast expanses of lawn; a rock garden located in the powerhouse tailrace. A dense hedge of cypress
would screen the northerly railroad tracks from the gardens and tourist buildings, and, on the
other side of the tracks, employee housing would be located, "if necessary.” Principal buildings
would be surrounded by lawns and formal plantings of rhododendrons and other flowering
shrubs.

The entire scheme appears to have been organized on the basis of formal attributes which
gradually faded into a natural, "wild," look closer to the river. Some of what could be considered
the least important parts of this plan were actually realized in the 1970s, when the engineers’
houses were torn down, although the area was seeded in lawn, rather than planted as a wild
garden.

Hollywood

Downstream from Reflector Bar is a small, flat area of 1and, nestled at the base of Sourdough
Mountain. Due to the river's circuitous course through the area, Hollywood, as this area is called,
is north of Reflector Bar, and east of Stetattle Creek, which forms Hollywood's west boundary.
Hollywood was part of a ranch owned by the Davis family, who had moved to the Diablo canyon
from a site on the river near Marblemount in 1898, when their homestead there was destroyed by a
flood.

The Davis ranch, established near Stetattle Creek, became a stopping place for miners traveling
into the North Cascades. Their roadhouse served hundreds of backcountry visitors during the
years of its operation. Known as Cedar Bar, the ranch and roadhouse was owned and operated by
Lucinda Davis and her three children, Glee and Frank, and a daughter, Idessa. When the Forest
Homestead Act passed in 1906, the Davis' applied for homestead entry on the land they had
improved. Their claim for 100 acres was reduced by the Forest Service, who wanted forty acres for
a ranger station and land on and around Reflector Bar. After years of wrangling, the claim went
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to patent in 1910, and title papers were finally signed in 1917. When the City began to cast its eye on
the areas above the Gorge for future development, it began condemnation proceedings against the
Davis Ranch. While the Davis' fought City Light's procedures, in 1929 Seattle succeeded in
acquiring the homestead for $15,000. The ranch at Cedar Bar was used to house employees and
guests for a number of years; the structures were removed in the 1950s when the dammed Skagit
began to flood the property, most of which is now underwater.

Sometime in the mid-1920s, around twenty shacks were erected in the Hollywood area, on City-
owned land. It is not clear who built the structures, but it appears that they were erected by the Davis
family to rent to City Light workers, prior to the condemnation and purchase of their ranch by the
City. They were scattered about the Hollywood area in an apparently random fashion,
accompanied by small outbuildings, such as wood sheds. Most were situated along Stetattle Creek.
By 1937 City Light employees were recorded as living in these buildings, almost all of which
appear to have been crudely constructed. None had sewer or water connections.

As a result of agitation for more and better housing in Diablo--and Newhalem--City Light, in 1936,
began to plan for new housing. A row of over twenty houses was to be built along the bank of the
river between the powerhouse and Stetattle Creek. The scheme ran into several roadblocks:
financing was a problem, and the Forest Service intervened, since, as Smith and McKeen reported
to Ross in November of that year:

As you know from our telegram, they [the Forest Service] claim jurisdiction
over the entire layout of housing and accommodations for the public at
Reflector Bar. They say they are only anxious to get the best development
possible, and to give us the benefit of their long experience and special
study. They don't like the idea of a long row of houses, nor the idea of
painting each one a different collor [sic]. They say the houses should blend
into the background of forest, and that Reflector Bar seems a much better
place for them, unless we have other plans for it, in which case they would
favor the Stetattle Creek area, or even the upper end of Davis Ranch below
Stetattle Creek. They suggest that the Forest Ranger station be moved from
the Bar to Stetattle Creek...if the proper layout of the Bar would be helped
thereby. We told them that you were our landscape architect, and that we
would not be able to give them our plan for the Bar until we heard from
you.47

Within a few days, James Frankland, assistant regional forester for the North Pacific Region of
the U.S. Forest Service, wrote to Ross to complain about the agency's lack of involvement in the
development plan, and to confirm the Service's architects and landscape architect's visit to the
site, offering their services in the development of a "...well defined plan for Reflector Bar."
Frankland noted that the U.S.F.S. had developed "...a very satisfactory style of architectural
treatment of the exteriors of our buildings located in such rugged country and I have been hoping
that this, or an adaption of it, might be selected by the City for their permanent buildings."48

Ross availed himself of the U.S. Forest Service offer for design assistance, although he did not
seriously reconsider his ultimate plans for developing the Reflector Bar area as a tourist-oriented
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facility, and therefore did not entertain the suggestion to build the new houses at the Bar.
Hollywood, it was determined, would be the location of the new permanent houses. In March, 1937,
McKeen, as acting superintendent of the Department of Lighting--Ross was at Bonneville--
received scale drawings of the new buildings from Linn Forrest, an assistant architect for the
U.S.F.S. North Pacific Region. There were three housing schemes for four-room residences and
one for a ten-man apartment. The drawings, Forrest noted, "...show that type of architecture
which we have found to be harmonious in rugged surrounds similar to those at Diablo."49

Two weeks later F.V. Horton, an assistant regional forester based in Portland, sent City Light a
plan for the entire development at Hollywood, which included both four and five room residences,
a bachelors' quarters, a school, and a railroad waiting shelter. The scheme was designed to take
advantage of the topography of the area, and was organized by a series of loop roads, where
buildings were "...oriented on the ground for their best adaptability to the immediate site for
topography, trees and views. A landscape feature has been planned for the drainage area,
dividing the residence groups, as a water course featuring a stream and pools."50 The scheme
included approximately twenty new houses, but, by this time, the number of houses to be built had
been reduced to five.

Two days later, McKeen sent the plans to Ross, telling him the survey crew was going to
Hollywood to stake out the buildings as suggested by the U.S.F.S., and asking him to make his
comments as soon as possible. By May the location of the houses were staked out, and McKeen was
reporting to Ross that they were planning to start two of the buildings, which had been redrawn and
probably altered to some extent, by City Light's architect, George Stewart. McKeen was also
sending a Mr. McMonies to the Skagit to select rock for use in the foundations and chimneys of the
buildings, as suggested by the Forest Service.

Construction began on the houses in the early summer of 1937, and continued through early 1938.
A total of five were built, in addition to an apartment building, referred to as "The Lodge."
Disputes over housing policy, pressure on the Lighting Department to cut its budget, and the
funneling of resources to begin construction on Ruby (Ross) Dam were some of the factors
intervening to reduce the number of much-needed houses. The railroad station and pool suggested
by the Forest Service were not built. The Lodge, which had also been reviewed and altered by the
Forest Service--the initial design by City Light had been for a two-story building, emphatically
vetoed by the Forest Service--was initially designed to house single men, who would share
common eating and lounging facilities. In the 1940s it was converted to apartments housing
families.

The houses each had two bedrooms, a bath, a kitchen, dining room and living room, and an
unfinished attic space in which laundry facilities could be located. They had steeply-pitched gable
roofs and horizontal board siding; vertical board siding with scalloped ends were located in the
gable ends. The foundations were faced with stone, and stone chimneys were located near the
center of each structure, projecting from the gabled roofs. Several plans were prepared, each
slightly different, and a prototype of each plan was erected, apparently with the idea that future
structures based on the different plan types already built would be erected later. They were located
near the apex of a triangular road, whose base followed the Skagit to the south. They were grouped
in an informal cluster, reflecting the prevailing rustic architecture planning philosophy of
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informal schemes adjusting to the site. The lodge was located on the east side of the triangular
road, near the south end of Hollywood.

By 1938 only five of the old shacks that had first occupied Hollywood were still standing. In April
of 1938, a draftsman from City Light, J.R. King, who had been directed to conduct a survey of
housing on the Skagit, prepared a report suggesting that twenty new houses be built in Hollywood.
He drew a scheme following the general layout originally proposed by the U.S.F.S. in 1936. It
included twenty new houses along the triangular road, and incorporated a pool--but not the
railroad station, nor the school--into his design, opposite the lodge. King's proposal was never
acted upon.

In December of 1938, Charles Flory, supervisor of the Mount Baker National Forest, attempted to
intervene one last time in the Hollywood development. The Forest Service apparently failed to
appreciate the irony of the name, "Hollywood," which had been appended to the area when the

small shacks were built in the late 1920s and early '30s. In April Flory's assistant, R.L. Fromme,
met with McKeen, and an agreement was reached to change the name of the area from Hollywood
to Stetattle. However, in December, City Light was still referring to it as Hollywood, as were all the
occupants on the Skagit. Flory wrote to City Light about this, in association with rental payments
for occupied houses in the area, which City Light was required to remit to the U.S. Forest Service.
He noted:

Preference for this change in names [Hollywood to Stetattle] was based on
the fact that the name Stetattle is unusual and distinctive as well as being
the geographic name for the stream on which this development is being
made. The name Hollywood, on the other hand, is foreign to the Skagit
locality, and the contemplated development has nothing in common with
the over-publicized Hollywood, California.51

Hollywood languished as a partially-built housing project until 1952, when a number of new \
houses were built. Gradually the 1938 rustic houses fell into disrepair, and were removed, one by
one, when maintenance was deemed too costly. The sole remaining house from this era is
Number 2, now referred to as H-6 (Resource #34). The lodge also survives, in part, although half
of it--the former dormitory area--was demolished within the last ten years. The original street
plan was altered in the 1950s, when the new residences were erected.

Diablo During and After the War

In the late 1930s, General Construction Company, hired to build Ross Dam, erected a camp area at
the north end of Reflector Bar, in the former location of the crane and circular warehouse sheds.
There were two H-shaped bunkhouses with gabled roofs, some storage buildings, a boiler room and
a small construction office. In 1952 a Butler building was erected to the west of these structures.
While the Butler building still stands, the construction camp buildings have been demolished and
the site is presently undergoing paving for a parking lot. Top managers of the construction
project, and their families, were housed in the Engineers' and Contractors' Camp, along with City
Light's top operators. '
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In 1935 the City donated a building in Diablo for use as a school--School District #105 of Whatcom
County--to teach eight children. In addition, City Light provided living quarters for a teacher, who
lodged with a City Light family until the 1940s, when a school teacher's cottage was finally built
near the southeast corner of the Bar. The school was located in a small gable-roofed building near
the water tower; later a second building was connected to it via a small hall, which served as a
cloakroom. This second building was detached from the original school building in 1952, and
moved south of the Incline Waiting Room, where it was reused as a communications building
(Resource #39). While the building dates to the historic period, it has been significantly altered,
and moved from its original location.

In 1940, then City Light Superintendent, E.R. Hoffman, consulted with a representative of
Naramore, Bain and Brady, a Seattle architectural firm specializing in school construction.
Floyd Naramore, in fact, had been the Seattle school district's architect for over ten years,
responsible for designing most of the junior high and high schools still standing in Seattle, as well
as a number of masonry elementary schools. In May of 1940 the firm recommended Hoffman
build a twenty-two by thirty foot building, which would adequately house fifteen children, and
offered general advice on the location of windows, ceiling heights and furniture arrangement. It
wasn't, however, until 1946 that City Light actually engaged the firm to design a school building in
Diablo--the war had intervened, and by then, the population of Diablo, swollen by the construction
crews working on Ross Dam, required more than a small building for the education of its
children. The new school was located west of the old mess hall, since converted to a commissary
and carpenter's store. It had a T-shaped plan, with cross-hip roofs, and was faced with brick. This
structure, which still stands, has been altered by additions, and presently serves as the dining hall
for City employees, for tours, and as a visitor center and museum.

In October of 1944, anticipating the push for Ruby (Ross) Dam construction and under pressure to
provide adequate housing, Hoffman had a survey of Diablo houses prepared. It reported a total of
seventeen houses in Reflector Bar, and eight, plus the "Lodge,” in Hollywood. Three of the pre-
1938 shacks were still standing, one sheltering a City Light employee and his family of five, and
one a U.S.F.S. employee and his wife and two children. In the Lodge, one city employee, Orville
Look, lived with his wife and two daughters, and three additional families were housed in
apartments City Light had carved out of the single men's rooms in the bunkhouse wing.

Of the Reflector Bar houses, twelve were part of the original Contractors' and Engineers'
Residences along the south and west edges of the bar, only five of which were considered to be in
good condition, although poorly constructed. Five were construction camp shacks left from the
southerly leg of the U; the rest had been demolished. Only two of the construction camp shacks
were occupied at the time of the survey--one by the school teacher, and one by a General
Construction Company employee. Four of these were considered useable, "...but they are useable
only for a few more years." By 1951, when a new evaluation of houses on the Bar was completed, in
preparation for new housing for Ross Powerhouse employees, three construction camp shacks were
recommended for removal. The remaining houses, Contractors' and Engineers' Residences,
were:
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...standing on wooden blocks and some of these houses are settling badly,
and...they are not located in the center of the lots or the proper distance from
the [proposed] sidewalk or the road...Some of these houses have only four
rooms, therefore we should consider the advisability of adding a room to
each house before we move it to its permanent location.52

In 1950 Hoffman had told Phil Bradner, the Mount Baker Forest supervisor, that City Light
planned to build sixty houses for the Ross Powerhouse operators and boatmen plying Diablo Lake,
and to install a narrow road to Diablo. However, by April of 1952, when the contract for new
residences in Diablo was let to the Seattle firm of Thorburn and Logozo , the number of houses to be
built had almost been halved, to thirty-six. Of these, eleven were to be built in Reflector Bar, and
the remaining number in Hollywood.

The decision was made to retain the older engineer's houses in Reflector Bar on their original
sites, anticipating their replacement in "five or ten years, when "material and labor would be
more available than it is now." If moved, it was argued, City Light would be spending money for
new foundations and moving, and "...we would still have old houses with not too good
arrangement and not well built."53 So the structures stayed until the 1970s, when most were
demolished or moved from the Project.

In the summer of 1952, construction began on the Reflector Bar houses and on a new hip-roofed
Commissary (Resource #38), located to the immediate north of the Incline Waiting Station. Most
of the new houses were located in the U.S.F.S. enclosure, on three new east-west streets converging
on a road running north-south along the edge of the railroad tracks, soon slated for removal. The
Forest Service house, which was deemed well-enough built to move, was shifted to its present site,
slightly southwest of the corner of the school. The barn was torn down, and a new combination
barn and warehouse built for the U.S.F.S. on the southwest corner of the Bar. Two additional
houses were located just east of the easternmost Contractors' and Engineers' Residence building.
The old mess hall-turned-commissary was demolished, however City Light's "Engineer's Camp'
buildings, still in use as bunkhouses--with one of the three converted to a mess hall--were retained
for a few more years.

i

The new houses, in both Diablo and Hollywood, were one-and-one-half story wood-framed
structures with steeply-pitched, aluminum-sheathed gable roofs. They had gable-roofed front and
rear porches, and a gable-roofed dormer located in the center of one elevation. The structures had
both large fixed glass, multi-paned windows and fixed glass over awning windows. All were
built with basements and sheathed with vertical board siding. They stand today in both areas, still
in use.

In Hollywood, the Skagit had overflowed its banks in the winter of 1949-50, flooding part of the low
lying area, and killing a number of trees along the bank. In conjunction with the plan for
additional housing for Ross Powerhouse operators, City Light decided to fill in the low areas of
Hollywood, raising the elevation to 890 feet. This raise in elevation was partially to counter the
effects of future flooding, and partially in anticipation of the rise in water when the new dam at
Gorge was completed. The plan was to fill along the railroad line and shape it so that it rose in a
gentle slope upstream on Stetattle Creek.
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The scheme for an additional twenty-eight houses in Hollywood required new roads, sidewalks, a
street lighting system, and reconstruction of the sewer and water lines installed in 1938, when the
five rustic houses and lodge were built. In September of 1951, the Hollywood regrading began. The
remaining pre-1938 shacks were demolished, and the west leg of the triangular road was raised,
following the original alignment to its apex at the north. The road along the river, next to the
tracks, slated for removal in several years time, was also regraded. The angle of the east side of
the original triangular road was altered, and an east-west link installed, forming a loop at the
peak of the triangle. It continued to the east, connecting to the former easterly leg of the triangular
road, which was extended north and terminated in a cul-de-sac. Plank walks were installed,
later replaced by concrete sidewalks, and, after completion of construction, trees were planted
along the streets and in yards. With completion of this construction, Hollywood appeared much as
it does today. Four of the five 1938 structures were gradually demolished, roads were paved, and
trees have matured. The rail right-of-way was covered with asphalt, and became part of the
present road leading to Reflector Bar and the Diablo Powerhouse.

Late in 1927 or early in 1928 a railroad bridge was erected to cross Stetattle Creek during the
extension of the line from Newhalem to Reflector Bar, below the Diablo Dam site. To handle the
steep grade and heavy construction material loads, the line was electrified, although a steam
locomotive--Old Number Six (Resource #19)--purchased in 1928--was also used to negotiate the
grade and haul equipment, materials and tourists to the dam site. When the railroad tracks were
removed in the 1950s,the roadbed of the bridge was repaved. Insufficient documentation and
conflicting oral interviews place the age of the Stetattle Creek Bridge in question: insulators on
the single-span Pratt truss steel bridge indicate the structure was used for the electrified railroad,
however several interviewees have stated the structure was rebuilt when the tracks were removed.
If the structure falls within the historic period, then it is a contributing resource, which served as
the only transportation link to the town of Diablo and the dam above. Further investigation is
needed to assess National Register eligibility and possible amendment to this nomination.

The present town of Diablo bears little resemblance to the construction camp town of 1928. A road
from State Highway 20 runs along the river to the bridge across Stetattle Creek, and along the
former railroad right-of-way next to the river, through Hollywood, where the 1952 houses are
located on vast expanses of lawn planted with various shade trees. It turns and continues south,
past the Diablo Powerhouse, following the former railroad line past the 1952 Commissary, the
Incline Waiting Room, and the relocated Communications Building, and continuing for a short
way before terminating-at the south end of Reflector Bar. A paved road leads from the entrance to
Reflector Bar west, to a parking area now undergoing upgrading, and the 1952 Butler building.
West of the Incline and road is a large area seeded in lawn, formerly the location of the old mess
hall, and west of it, is the 1940s Diablo School, now serving as a visitor center. West of the school is
the relocated U.S.F.S. house, and beyond it, across a lawn, is the 1950s U.S.F.S. barn and
warehouse. South of the school and lawn are the 1952 residences. The south and west edges of the
Bar are now seeded in lawn, with some older trees and shrubs interspersed along the grounds.
The 1934 water tower rises like a beacon above the town, an immediately visible landmark.
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Ross Powerhouse and Dam

Neither Ross Dam nor Ross Powerhouse at present qualify for listing in the National Register,
since they post-date the historic period. However, the powerhouse and dam are the third and final
phase of hydroelectric development on the Skagit River, and construction of the plant was first
proposed by J.D. Ross at the inception of the entire Skagit Project. With the concept of Ross Dam an
integral part of the Project's story, it is recommended that this nomination be amended to include
Ross Dam and Powerhouse when the resource reaches fifty years of age.

Ross Dam is a constant-angle thin arch dam, 540 feet high. The crest is 1300 feet long and thirty-
three feet wide. The dam includes two fixed wheel headgates, each weighing 210 tons; twelve
tainter gates which pivot on a 21.5 foot radius, and two butterfly relief valves with a six foot
diameter and broome gates on the upstream side. The dam has two 1,900 foot long power tunnels,
twenty-four and one-half feet in diameter. The face of the dam is waffled. The reservoir behind
the dam--Ross Lake-- stores 1.43 million acre feet of water.

The site at Ruby Creek, where Ross Dam is located, was the location where J.D. Ross wanted to
build the first dam on the Skagit project, because it was here that the gorge widened to form a large
natural storage reservoir. However, the logistical problems of building at that remote site were too
challenging, and too expensive for the City to surmount in 1917-18, and the Gorge site was selected
as the first power plant location. It wasn't until 1936, when the City received three million dollars
from the Public Works Administration, enabling it to float an additional four million dollars in
bonds, that work began at the site. By 1937 crews were at work on site, drilling test holes for the
dam, and building the new transmission line. City Light crews, lodged in Diablo, were put to
work building a floating cookhouse and bunkhouses on Diablo Lake to service a construction
camp site to be located near the dam site.

It was decided to build the dam in stages, or steps. Preliminary design work of Ross Dam was
done by Lars Jorgensen's firm, The Constant Angle Arch Dam Company, which designed Diablo
Dam. Additional designs were prepared by the consulting firm of J.L. Savage after Jorgensen's
death in 1937. The construction contract was awarded to General Construction Company in mid-
1937, which included construction of the first step of the dam, of a by-pass tunnel, and of a work
camp for the crew at Ruby. In January of 1940, the first step of the dam, three hundred feet high, was
completed. After City Light crews built a fifteen foot high timber crib dam atop the first step, the
lake behind it backed up nine miles. Construction of the second step was halted by the War, but, in
1943, with assistance of the federal government, construction at Ruby began again, with a
consortium of three companies--General, Shea, and Morrison-Kundsen-- working at the site.
After the war, three hundred additional men were brought in to speed construction, and the third
step was contracted for, using the contractors already on site. On August 18, 1949, the dam, re-
named in honor of J.D. Ross, was dedicated. In 1953, when spillway gates were added, the
reservoir reached its full height of 1,600 feet above sea level.

Work on the foundations for Ross Powerhouse began in 1948, and three generators were ordered

from Westinghouse in 1949. Late in 1949 construction of the building began, but was halted in 1951
when the contract with the construction firm of Peter Kiewit and Sons was broken by City Light. A
new contract with Guy P. Atkinson Company was signed later in 1951, and this firm completed the
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building by the end of 1952. With one generator operating, it was, by the end of that year, supplying
power. The second and third generators were installed in 1953 and 1954. The fourth generator was
installed in 1956.

The powerhouse is 200 feet high, from sump floor to generator room ceiling. There is a twenty-
nine foot concrete bulkhead between the electrical gallery and the turbine pit walkway. The
building is 288 feet long and includes an observation deck. Equipment includes four 100,000 kva
three-phase Westinghouse generators. Three of the turbines were designed and built by Baldwin
Locomotive Corporation, and one by Newport News Corporation; their efficiency varies between
ninety-two and ninety-four percent, when operating near the rated load.

Descriptions of Individual Contributing and NonContributing Resources

The following is a description of each contributing and noncontributing resource within the
Historic District, organized according to geographic location.

Town of Newhalem

#01 Silk Stocking Row House #8 1921

Contributing Resource: Building

Location:South of Highway 20, west of Main Street Style: Bungalow

Original Function: Housing Present Function: Housing

Physical Appearance: A rectangular, one and one-half story wood-frame structure with narrow
lapped siding and shingles on the gable ends. A gabled roof has exposed rafter ends and plain
fascia boards. There is a shed-roofed dormer on the west elevation. Principal entrance faces
south with raised hip-roofed porch, battered columns and vertical wood slat balustrade. Secondary
entrance on north has bracketed, gabled overdoor and concrete steps with pipe handrails--not
original to the structure. Windows are single and grouped multi-paned sashes. A concrete
chimney is located on the west roof slope. Original cedar shingle roof covered by ribbed metal in
the 1950s and replaced again in 1984; all windows, with exception of basement, replaced c. 1984
with double-glazed sash which mimic, but do not match the original fenestration. It is in good
condition.

Significance: This house is one of nine "permanent” houses built along the Skagit River for
Seattle City Light supervisors, foremen and operators, part of an ensemble known as "Silk
Stocking Row." It is nearly identical to Houses #1 and #4. It is still used today as company
housing. The building represents, both historically and architecturally, an early phase of the
development of the company town of Newhalem. It has integrity of design, materials,
workmanship, setting, location, feeling and association and remains an integral part of both Silk
Stocking Row and the historic town.
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#02 Silk Stocking Row House #7 - 1922

Contributing Resource: Building

Location:South of Highway 20, west of Main Street Style: Bungalow

Original Function: Housing , Present Function: Housing

Physical Appearance: A rectangular, one and one-half story wood-frame structure with wood
shingle siding laid in a decorative course pattern. The cross-gable roof has a plain cornice and
boxed eaves. The principal entrance faces south, with a full-bay raised porch recessed beneath the
main roof plane, battered wood columns and vertical wood slat balustrade. A secondary entrance
on the north is reached via concrete steps with pipe handrails--not original to the structure.
Windows are single and grouped multi-paned sliding and fixed sashes. There is a concrete
chimney on the west roof slope. Original cedar shingle roof covered by ribbed metal in the 1950s
and replaced again in 1984; all windows, with exception of basement, replaced c. 1984 with double-
glazed sash which mimic, but do not match the original fenestration. It is in good condition.
Significance: This house is one of nine "permanent" houses built along the Skagit River for
Seattle City Light supervisors, foremen and operators, part of an ensemble known as "Silk
Stocking Row."” It is nearly identical to Houses #2 and #5. It is still used today as company
housing. The building represents, both historically and architecturally, an early phase of the
development of the company town of Newhalem. It has integrity of design, materials,
workmanship, setting, location, feeling and association and remains an integral part of both Silk
Stocking Row and the historic town.

#03 Silk Stocking Row House #6 1922

Contributing Resource: Building .

Location:South of Highway 20, west of Main Street Style: Bungalow

Original Function: Housing Present Function: Housing

Physical Appearance: A rectangular, one and one-half story wood-frame structure with wood
shingle siding laid in a decorative course pattern. The gambrel roof has plain fascia boards and
boxed eaves: there are two hip-roofed dormers on the westerly elevation, and one shed-roofed
dormer on the easterly elevation, all sides with decorative shingle coursing. The principal
entrance faces south, with a full length shed-roofed porch supported by squared columns with
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